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About this report

Our Annual Report follows best practice in
corporate governance by reporting our
performance against strategic objectives
and national targets, and presenting
information about our services and financial
performance transparently and honestly.
The structure of the Report is:

• Chairman’s statement
• Directors’ report:
including an introduction to HCT, our achievements through the year
and our main strategic aims for the coming year.

• Operating and financial review:
including our vision and values, performance against corporate
objectives 2010/11 and details of our corporate objectives for
2011/12 and a summary of how we have performed financially
in 2010/11.

• Performance report:
including our performance against national targets.

• Governance report:
including details of the Trust Board.

• Quality Account:
demonstrating our commitment to providing quality care for all
patients and reporting back on our performance against priorities
for quality improvement agreed by the Board of Directors
and identifying our priorities for 2011/12.

• Finance:
including the full Annual Accounts for the financial year 2010/11.

If you would like a copy of this document in LARGE PRINT, Braille or
audio tape, or you would like this information explained in your own
language, please contact 01707 388038.

Chairman’s statement
Welcome to this, the first Annual Report and
Accounts of Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust.
The report highlights our performance in the
12 months to March 2011 and our plans and
priorities for the next year.
We became a stand alone NHS Trust on
1 November 2010 and although some parts
of this document reflect our recent creation,
we have attempted where possible to provide
a full year’s picture of achievements,
challenges and opportunities presented to us
during 2010/11.
Despite our relative youth as an NHS Trust,
our services are well established in Hertfordshire
and our staff have built up a well deserved
reputation for providing high quality care to
patients in their homes, or in the network of
health care facilities across the County.
It is with pride we can report a strong
performance for the year in terms of meeting
or exceeding expectations in the achievement
of national and local targets, at the same
time as recording a small financial surplus
for the year.
This puts us in a strong position to move
forward with our plans to develop new and
better services for local people closer to their
homes so that they no longer have to attend
hospital for treatment in future.

Becoming an NHS Trust has always been looked
upon by us as an important stepping stone on
the way to becoming an NHS Community
Foundation Trust. Between February and May
we have been engaged in a consultation with
our local communities about our plans and we
thank all those who have responded during
the consultation offering us their views,
comments and suggestions about how we
should go forward.
I would like to express my gratitude to my
Trust Board colleagues for their unstinting
support and to all our staff at every level and
in every area for their unbounded enthusiasm
and dedication in ensuring that our patients
remain at the centre of everything we do.
Looking forward, we recognise that we face an
extremely challenging future with finances
becoming tighter despite growing demand for
our services. We will need to ensure we remain
as flexible as possible so that we can adapt to
changing priorities and grasp new opportunities
as they present themselves to us. I am confident
that we can do so.
I hope you find this document helpful and
informative and I commend it to you.

Declan O’Farrell
Chairman
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HCT service portfolio

Hertfordshire Wide
Children
• Health Visiting & School Nursing
• Child and School Health Information
• Step 2 Service (emotional & mental wellbeing)
• Children’s Speech & Language Therapy
• Children’s Physiotherapy
• Children’s Occupational Therapy
• Child and Adolescent Challenging Behaviour
Psychology Service
• Community Dental Service
• Nutrition & Dietetic Service
• Wheelchair Services
• Consultant Nurse for children with complex
health needs

Adults
• Community Nursing
• Intermediate Care
• Respiratory Care
• Musculoskeletal Service
• Podiatry Service
• Neurological Services
• Wheelchair Services
• Adult Bladder and Bowel Care
• Diabetes
• Palliative Care and lymphoedema
• Cardiology Services (Heart failure and cardiac
rehab)
• Speech and Language Therapies (SLT)
• Nutrition & Dietetic Service
• Community Dental Service
• Neurological Community Services
• Leg ulcer

West Hertfordshire
Children
• Children’s Continuing Care
• Children’s Community Nursing
• Specialist School Nursing
• Palliative & Transitional Care
• Children’s Diabetes Nursing Service
• St Albans’ Children's Centre
• Special School Nursing
• Children’s Medical Services
• Audiology
• Eye Service
• Newborn Hearing Screening
• Nascot Lawn Respite Services

Adults
• Retinal Screening
• Prison Healthcare Services
• Community Hospitals:
Gossoms End
Langley House
Potters Bar*
Sopwell, Langton Ward at St Albans City Hospital
Harpenden Memorial Hospital*
Windmill House
St Peter’s Ward, Hemel Hempstead Hospital
Rapid Assessment Unit and Day services,
St Albans
* Day services
• Neurological inpatient/outpatient Services,
Holywell and hydrotherapy pool

East and North Hertfordshire
Children
• Sexual Health
• Sawbridgeworth Children’s Centre

Adults
• Skin Health
• Acute Therapy Service
• Minor Injuries Unit (MIU)
• Psychological Therapy Service
• Sexual Health
• Community Hospitals:
Bed Based: Hitchin Hospital
QVM Welwyn
Royston Hospital
Herts & Essex Hospital
• Non-Bed Based: Cheshunt Hospital
• Neuro Inpatient Services Danesbury

Directors’ report

In this section we provide a profile of our
principal activities during the course of the
past year and highlight the progress we
have made in developing the range and
scope of the services we provide in the
local communities of Hertfordshire.
Our business review is covered in detail in the
Operating and Financial Review section whilst
the other main sections of this Annual Report
include our Quality Account and the Annual
Accounts for 2010/11.
The Trust’s principal activities
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust (HCT) is
one of a new generation of community health
services trusts in the NHS.
Previously the provider arm of NHS Hertfordshire
(Primary Care Trust - PCT), HCT is responsible for
delivering a wide range of community health
services across Hertfordshire.
The Trust serves a population of around one
million people and employs over 3,000 staff
making it one of the largest employers in the
County.

Looking back
A key achievement was to become an NHS
Trust on 1 November 2010 and to move
quickly forward with a public engagement
process to discuss our plans to become a
Community NHS Foundation Trust. The local
NHS has been looking at how to move more
services out of a hospital setting into the local
community. This process is called Delivering
Quality Healthcare for Hertfordshire (DQHH)
and we have been working with other NHS
colleagues in the local hospitals, the Primary
Care Trust and GPs looking at new ways to
provide more services in the community which
mean that local people either don’t need to
go into hospital at all or are able to leave
hospital more quickly and return home.

“

We want to
develop more
high quality
health services
closer to people’s
homes in town
and villages
throughout
Hertfordshire.

”

We serve the communities of Broxbourne,
Dacorum, East Herts, Hertsmere, North Herts,
St Albans, Stevenage, Three Rivers, Watford
and Welwyn/Hatfield.
We have 130 units or bases across the
County, ranging from community hospitals to
health clinics providing inpatient care,
specialist care and supporting local people in
their own homes.
See facing page for a complete list of our services.
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Directors’ report

How effective have we been?
We are pleased to report a strong start to our
life as an NHS Trust both in terms of quality of
service, as reflected in our performance against
key national indicators, and our financial
position as of 31 March 2011.
There have been a number of highlights
during the year:
We acquired the unique distinction of being
the only NHS Trust in the country to boast the
winners of two different awards categories in
the Nursing Standard Awards 2011.
Step 2 service for children and young people
was set up to support social and health care
professionals in improving the mental health
and emotional wellbeing of children and
young people in Hertfordshire. The service
won the Mental Health category for its Bright
Stars therapeutic programme which tackles
anxiety, low self-esteem and anger amongst
young people. The team also devised the
BrainBox, a tool which helps explain the flight
or fight response and is used in conjunction
with the Bright Stars programme. The judges
praised the team for working to “lessen the
stigma attached to mental health services for
young people”.
The innovating Learning Disability Team at
The Mount Prison won the category Nursing
Innovations in the Criminal Justice System.
The team has been set up to support people
with learning disability who are in prison and
is made up of a number of specialists both
from our Trust and Herts Partnership NHS
Foundation Trust and the Prison Service.
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Other achievements include:
Understanding patient experience and
involving our users. We believe it is vitally
important to listen to and understand the
experiences of our service users. To help us
we have implemented a number of initiatives:
• gaining patients’ views after they
return home
• talking to patients who return to
our services
• surveying current users across a range
of services.
We are introducing handheld terminals to
gather our live feedback information so we
can act on this feedback as quickly as
possible. We have also introduced “you said,
we did” information boards in our facilities
showing what actions we have taken.
We asked patients staying on our inpatient
units what they thought of the care they
received and we are pleased to report that
98% patients surveyed reported the quality
of their care as good or better. However, we
want to improve this so that the majority of
patients rate their care as excellent.
In 2010 we established a new diabetes service
in the community. This reduced waiting times
for patients on an average of 12 down to 10
weeks, and also meant patients no longer had
to attend the hospitals for their routine care,
but could attend local clinics - reducing travel
time by providing care closer to home.
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Seamless continuing care. When patients
leave our care they often need to have ongoing
care either in their own home or in a nursing
home. This year we reduced the number of
patients who face a delay in this process by over
50%. We recognise there is more work to be
done, but believe this has already substantially
improved our patients’ experience.
We also set up a service for Children with
challenging behaviour. This is a service for
children and young people who have a learning
disability and/or autistic spectrum disorder who
present with significant challenging behaviour.
This service is committed to, and passionate
about, working with children and young people
with learning disabilities and autistic spectrum
disorder to make a genuine difference.
The Community Rheumatology Orthopaedic
and Pain Service (CROPS) team in West Herts
identified improvements in the patient
pathway, with resulting cost reductions, for
those patients attending podiatry clinics and
who require surgical treatment. HCT has
worked with West Herts Hospitals NHS Trust
to run a ‘virtual clinic’ where a video link
up enables a hospital based foot and ankle
surgeon to work with a clinic based podiatrist
to agree which patients might be suitable for
surgery. 48 patients have been seen, with 29
going on to have surgery. Direct access onto
the surgical list eliminated the cost of an
outpatient appointment, and patients have
avoided a visit to hospital.
The physiotherapy service in East and North
Hertfordshire has worked with the
Musculoskeletal Triage team to enable access
to a specialist orthopaedic assessment and
diagnostic service for patients with recurring
conditions that have not been improved by
usual physiotherapy treatment. Specially
trained orthopaedic physiotherapy
practitioners investigate, diagnose and
manage patients without the need for further
GP appointments and additional referrals
being made.

The neurological and palliative care teams
have won the East of England Strategic Health
Authority’s Transforming Community Services
(TCS) leadership challenge award together
with a £50,000 cash prize. My Needs Now will
provide a specialist coordinator, working with
NHS and voluntary services to support local
people with complex neurological and palliative
care needs. This will help prepare patients and
their families for the fast changes in their
conditions and support them to have full
control over their treatment and care options.
We have been improving our community
hospitals including reviewing the way nurses
and therapists work to release more time for
direct patient care, improving the physical
environment in a number of the hospitals and
establishing regular patient feedback. It was
gratifying that we received a score of ‘Good’
for the environment in all our main sites from
the Patient Environment Action Team (PEAT),
as well as a number of ‘Excellent’ scores for
dignity and privacy in 2010. We are confident
of improving on these scores in 2011.
Following feedback, we introduced a silent
night scheme which aims to reduce noise in
hospitals at night to allow patients a better
night’s sleep.
We have also been developing our Community
Matrons who support patients with long term
illnesses or chronic conditions so that they
can be cared for in their homes rather than in
hospitals. One area they have been focusing
on is supporting patients with chronic obstructive
pulmonary disease (COPD) who need regular
monitoring of their respiratory function.
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“

Looking to the future

We remain in
a strong position
to continue to
develop high quality
services and also
take advantage of
any opportunities
that arise

”

We will continue to be involved in working
with the Strategic Health Authority (SHA) and
Monitor (the FT regulatory body) in achieving
Community Foundation Trust status as quickly
as possible, but we must not let this distract
us from the challenges we face over the next
12 months. Like all NHS organisations we will
have to address the changes which will impact
on us and other organisations as funding
reductions begin to bite whilst we also
respond to the national drive to provide more
health services in a community setting.
We will also continue to build strong alliances
with our new commissioners, the evolving GP
Clinical Commissioning Groups, which are
currently taking shadow form in Hertfordshire.
We have already done much work to open up
links with the key GP practices and held two
very constructive sessions with GP colleagues
last autumn in which we shared ideas and
views about the future.

Competition from the private sector and
potential competition from other NHS
providers from outside Hertfordshire pose a
risk, but we remain in a strong position to
continue to develop high quality services and
also take advantage of any opportunities that
arise to compete to provide new services
outside the County. Business development
will remain high on our agenda over the next
12 months.
We also wish to build on our core services by
expanding our community nursing and health
visitor services, strengthening rehabilitation
services particularly in people’s homes, and
building on all of our successes of the past
year as highlighted above.
The next 12 months offer us many challenges
and opportunities to build on the achievements
highlighted in this Annual Report and progress
toward gaining Community Foundation Trust
status.

Derek Smith
Interim Chief Executive Officer
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Operating and financial review

This section of the report covers our
financial, operational and clinical performance
during 2010/11.
We state our Vision and Values as an organisation, look at our
corporate objectives for 2010/11 and how we have performed against
them. We highlight the key objectives for 2011/12 and provide an
overview of financial and clinical performance.
Our Vision
To be the best community health care organisation in England,
providing high quality care in patients’ homes and the community,
delivered by skilled and empowered staff.
Our Values
Care
We put patients at the heart of everything we do.
Respect
We treat people with dignity and respect.
Quality
We strive for excellence and effectiveness at all times.
Confidence
We do what we say we will do.
Improve
We will improve through continuous learning and innovation.
Our strategic objectives
• Provide services which people choose and recommend for patient
safety, clinical effectiveness and experience.
• Maintain financial health through viable services, innovation
and investment.
• Empower and utilise the talents, expertise and experience of
our staff.
• Maximise service development opportunities by leveraging our
networks, partnerships and collaborative working.
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Operating and financial review
Objectives, targets and priorities

KEY OBJECTIVES FOR 2010/11 AND HOW WE DID
The Trust has made good progress against
the objectives as laid out in the 2010/11
Annual Plan. These were:
• To become a stand alone NHS Trust
The organisation became an NHS Trust on
1 November 2010.
• To deliver on community elements of the
Delivering Quality programme
Established a community based diabetes
service; developed our integrated home
base teams; introduced a pilot scheme in
the Welwyn/Hatfield locality for a single
point of contact for health care professionals
wishing to access our adult community
services.

• To deliver increases in productivity and
reduce overall costs
We achieved a £3.8m reduction in costs
whilst retaining services and quality
standards.
• To improve productivity/benchmarking
of services
We are now a member of aspirant CFT
benchmark club and actively involved in
developing national benchmarking for
community trusts.
• To roll out Systm1
the clinical system is now in place across
all services improving data recording and
quality.

• To reduce C difficile (C diff) rates below
the ceiling set by commissioners of 24
cases for the year
We recorded 18 cases.

• To reduce numbers of delayed transfers
Delayed Transfers of care reduced from
14.8% - 8.3%; average length of stay
reduced by five days.

• To meet the commissioner’s MRSA
bacteraemia target of four cases for
the year
We recorded a total of five cases of MRSA
bacteraemia during the year. We
investigated every case using root cause
analysis (RCA) and detailed actions have
been implemented to reduce the risks.

• To improve relationships with partner
organisations and key stakeholders
The Chief Executive regularly attends Herts
County Council Health Scrutiny Committee
and meetings with NHS Chief Executives
including the two local acute hospital trusts,
Hertfordshire Partnership NHS Foundation
Trust and the PCT. Senior managers are in
regular contact with GP practices and two
half day sessions were held in the autumn
of 2010 with representatives of the 13 PBC
groups to discuss shared experiences, how
to improve links and how to work together
in future.

• To ensure a positive response from patients
in patient surveys
95% of patients responded that care was
good or better.
• To build on the outcomes of our first
Quality Account
The actions and recommendations from the
first Quality Account are outlined in the
Quality Account section of this document.
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NATIONAL AND REGIONAL PERFORMANCE TARGETS
All national targets have been met including:
• 18 weeks
• GUM
• Newborn Hearing Screening
• Minor Injuries four hour access
• HPV - ahead of trajectory for the school year
2010/11
• C difficile - remain ahead of trajectory
agreed with PCT
For details on our performance against these
targets, see page 18.

KEY PRIORITIES FOR 2011/12 AND WHAT WE INTEND TO DO
• Achieve all national and local quality and
performance targets to deliver high quality
care and drive up reputation

• Strengthen business processes to enable
HCT to successfully compete and win future
contracts

• Ensure the organisation has the appropriate
governance systems and processes in place
to demonstrate readiness to become a
Foundation Trust

• To retain a robust and sound financial position
throughout the year

• Develop the Clinical Services Strategy and
identify business development opportunities
to improve patient care across Hertfordshire
• Develop key strategic partnerships with GP
Clinical Commissioning Groups, acute trusts,
County Council and independent organisations

• Recruit CEO, Executive Directors and key
leadership positions within the organisation
• Further develop key strategies for: quality,
estates, IMT, organisational development
and business development
• Deliver on the five quality priorities for
the year (see the Quality Account section
of this document)
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Operating and financial review
Summary of financial performance

The Trust achieved an Income and Expenditure (I&E) surplus of £184,000 for the financial year
2010/11. A comparison of planned and actual performance is shown in the table below.
High-level comparison between planned financial performance and actual performance
2010/11 plan
£000s

2010/11 outturn
£000s

£000s

Variance
% of plan

£112,080

£128,188

£16,108

14%

£5,428

£3,400

-£2,028

-37%

£117,508

£131,588

£14,080

12%

Pay costs

£91,556

£89,950

-£1,606

-2%

Non-pay costs

£25,485

£41,017

£15,532

61%

£117,042

£130,967

£13,926

12%

£466

£621

£155

33%

Interest receivable

0

0

0

-

Interest payable

0

0

0

-

Depreciation

£466

£363

£103

-22%

PDC dividend

0

£74

£74

-

Exceptional items

0

0

0

-

Net surplus/(deficit)

0

£184

£184

-

Income
Clinical income
Non-clinical income
Other income
TOTAL INCOME

Expenses

Other costs
TOTAL EXPENDITURE

EBITDA*

*EBITDA = Earnings Before Interest, Tax and Dividends
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As the Trust came into being during the year,
the Department of Health required us to
report 12 months income and expenditure
within our accounts using merger accounting.
The figures on the facing page are the
position for 2010/11. When the Trust was
created, the assets and liabilities associated
with the provider arm of NHS Hertfordshire
were transferred to the Trust as reserves, as
part of the transfer of functions.
The planned outturn position differs from
the actual due to the disaggregation of
corporate and management costs from NHS
Hertfordshire. This has increased the Trust’s
income and expenditure in order to cover
these costs. These were agreed late in the
financial year and therefore are not reflected
in the planned position shown on page 14.
Overall this has meant that the organisation is
able to show its full operating costs for the
year, which is important going forward as an
independent organisation.

Capital Investment
The Trust invested £1.1m in capital schemes.
Funding for this came from a Capital Resource
Limit (CRL) of £1.5m, which is set by the
Department of Health and no overspend is
permitted. This duty has therefore been
achieved.
The Trust spent much of this funding on
developing mobile working across several
clinical services and purchasing IT software to
improve its systems and prepare it for
becoming a Foundation Trust.
The Trust charges its commissioners for
depreciation. As depreciation is an accounting
entry and the Trust does not spend cash on
this, it will be used to fund its 2011/12 capital
programme. The expected income is £0.5m
and therefore will be carefully managed to
ensure there is no overspend.

NHS trusts have a statutory duty to break even
in terms of income and expenditure. In order
to achieve this position the Trust instigated a
Cost Improvement Programme (CIP) which
identified schemes across the organisation to
make efficiencies or reduce costs. This included
savings on the procurement of goods and
services, rates rebates, and restructuring
some teams.
The Trust is planning to deliver a further
surplus in 2011/12. However, given the overall
economic climate, this will be more difficult to
achieve and the Trust has a CIP plan in place
to ensure it will deliver this.

Annual Report and Accounts 2010-2011
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Better Payment Practice Code - % value of creditor invoices paid in 30 days and 10 days
1.2*
1*
0.8*
0.6*
0.4*
0.2*
0*
Apr10 May10 Jun10 Jul10 Aug10 Sep10 Oct10 Nov10 Dec10 Jan11 Feb11 Mar11

◼2010/11

◼Target

◼10 day

Cash
NHS trusts are required to manage cash within
their notified External Financing Limit (EFL).
This limit is set by the Department of Health
and determines how much cash a trust may
spend beyond that generated by its normal
day to day operations. It is a breach of its
financial duty to overspend against the EFL.
The Trust had an EFL of £1.5m and retained
£3.4m cash at the end of the year. This is
particularly pleasing as no cash was transferred
as part of the transfer of assets and liabilities
when the Trust was established.
Unfortunately at times during the year the
Trust performed less well against the Better
Practice Payment Code (BPPC). The code
requires organisations to pay 95% of suppliers
within 30 days of receiving a valid invoice.
The organisation’s performance improved
significantly in November when it became a
Trust, but started to deteriorate at the end of
the year. The Trust takes this extremely
seriously and also measures itself against the
Government’s prompt payment code, which
commits the organisation to paying 50% of
invoices within 10 working days.
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The Trust did not deliberately build up its
cash at the expense of its BPPC performance.
The cash was mainly received in March due
to a number of debtors paying outstanding
invoices.
Plans for 2011/12
As part of the Department of Health's
"Transforming Community Services" agenda,
land and buildings currently owned by NHS
Hertfordshire will transfer to the Trust during
2011/12. The exact number and value of
buildings is yet to be determined, but is subject
to negotiation between the two organisations.
It is expected that the Trust will then own
or lease a significant number of properties,
where it is either the sole or majority occupant
of the building. Further guidance is awaited
from the Department of Health before these
transactions are completed. The value of
transfer is expected to be in the region of
£60m and will be funded through Public
Dividend Capital issued to the Trust.
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The operational performance of the Trust

The Trust’s services aim to provide the very
highest quality services at all times. A key part
of maintaining our high standards is to deliver
on achieving national targets.
The table below provides an indication of overall activity for the year.
Patient Activity Figures

2010/11

Total contacts

1,474,765

Total referrals received
Occupied bed days
Minor Injuries attendances

288,134
93,298
7,108

Operational performance
The Trust performed strongly in 2010/11 in
achieving our targets and ensuring high quality
across all services. We achieved seven of the
eight national key performance indicators with
98% or more in six of the eight indicators.
Amongst these, all 7,108 patients who
attended our minor injuries unit were seen
within the national standard of four hours.

Our 18 week referral to treatment indicators
were 100% and 99% respectively for consultant
and non-consultant services. We maintained
these levels of service throughout 2010/11. This
makes HCT one of the most consistent and best
performing community trusts in the country.
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The following table sets out performance against our main targets. Further information on
performance against quality standards is included in the Quality Account section.
Main target performance
Key performance indicators

2010/11
Target

2010/11
Performance

Minor injuries patients seen < 4 hours

89%

100%

Percentage of GUM (Genito Urinary medicine)
patients seen < 48Hrs

85%

100%

Percentage of GUM (Genito Urinary medicine)
patients offered < 48Hrs

100%

100%

New born hearing screening - % babies screened
within 3 month of birth

95%

98%

Retinal screening - % of diabetic cohort that has
been offered an annual screen

100%

100%

Retinal screening - % of diabetic cohort that has
been screened in 2010/2011

80%

82%

Percentage of patients still at home 91 days after
discharge from community hospital with rehab

80%

68%

Consultant led 18 week referral to treatment

95%

100%

100%

99.6%

MRSA

4

5

Clostridium difficile

24

18

Not Set

99%

>88% - 92%<

89.6%

2%<

1.2%

National indicators

18 week referral to treatment indicator
Non-consultant led
Infection Control

Patient Experience
% of patients reporting positively about cleanliness of
environment in a community hospital
Community Hospitals
Average Occupancy
Readmission rates within 28 days
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Principal risks and uncertainties

As is the case in the rest of the NHS, the Trust faces a number of challenges
due to the growing demand on services at a time of financial uncertainty.
As a newly formed Trust, HCT has a number of additional challenges to
overcome during the coming year.
These include:

provided by the Trust’s Internal Auditors.

Development of the leadership team
The Trust has appointed Derek Smith as the
Interim Chief Executive. Derek will play a
key role in steering the organisation through
2011/12 and developing the senior
management team.

The main strategic risks that have faced the
Trust in 2010/11 since becoming a statutory
body in its own right from November 2010,
and which were material as at 31 March
2010, fall broadly under three categories:

The ‘due diligence’ process and preparing
the ground for becoming a Community
Foundation Trust
The Trust has a dedicated team to take this
crucial work forward.
The need to secure a share of the work
identified in the ongoing shift from hospital
services into the community
The Trust is expanding its range of services to
strengthen its position in winning new work
and retaining what it has.
To forge links with newly formed GP consortia
The Trust is continuing to develop a dialogue
with all GP practices, but specifically with the
shadow GP Clinical Commissioning Groups
in Hertfordshire.
Establish the transfer of estate from the PCT
Negotiations continue with NHS Hertfordshire.
Key risks
The Trust’s corporate risk registers and
governance processes are designed to assess
the impact of any identified risks to the Trust’s
plans, and ensure that as far as possible they
are managed and mitigated.

Economic risks
The Trust has declared a surplus for 2010/11,
so the associated risks of having a deficit
position is not an issue. However, economic
risks remain for 2011/12 and are consequently
being closely monitored and managed.
Service risks
Assurances suggest that none of the servicerelated risks have materialised significantly in
2010/11. As with the economic risks, the
service-related risks continue to be monitored
and managed into 2011/12.
Organisational development risks
These relate principally to the Trust being a
new statutory organisation which has been
developing within the constraints of finite
resources during a time of significant and
complex change for the NHS and health care
delivery generally. Progress has been made in
2010/11 to manage and mitigate these risks,
but as with the economic and service-related
risks, they are likely to continue as strategic
issues into 2011/12.

Those objectives which run the greatest risk of
not being achieved are reviewed regularly by
the Executive Team, the Audit Committee and
the Board. Independent assurance is also
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Monitoring performance

Internal

Reporting to the Strategic Health Authority

Monthly financial statements are reviewed by
the Trust Board and Executive Team who, with
Business Units, analyse variances from budget.
Action plans are produced to manage any
variances and these are monitored through
integrated performance meetings with Business
Units and the Executive Team.

The Trust reports to the East of England SHA
through the SHA’s “Provider Management
Regime”, which is based around Monitor’s
Compliance Framework for Foundation Trusts.
This involves:

The Board receives monthly updates of this
performance and this is scrutinised in detail by
the Audit Committee (2010/11) and, going
forward, this task will be carried out by the new
Finance, Business and Investment Committee.
In respect of areas other than finance, the
Board and Executive Team of the Trust monitor
performance closely through analysis of a
monthly “Integrated Performance Report”,
which has evolved and developed throughout
2010/11.
This report is divided into the domains of Patient
Safety, Quality, Performance and Workforce.
It sets out targets and/or key performance
indicators which are (a) national (b) agreed as
part of the contract with the PCT or (c) devised
internally. The indicators are recorded against a
trajectory for the year and performance against
each indicator for each month (or quarter) is
allocated a “red”, “amber” or “green” rating
subject to whether it meets the trajectory.
Any indicators showing red are specifically
highlighted and analysed for the Board’s
attention.
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• the submission of a detailed Annual Plan,
which includes a self assessment of
governance, financial and contractual risk.
• reporting monthly on how the Trust is
performing. This is through self-certified
completion of a model template which is a
month by month assessment of the Trust’s
Governance Risk Rating (GRR), Financial Risk
Rating (FRR) and Contractual Risk Rating,
which are then assessed against the Annual
Plan risk projections. The monthly return is
also supported by a declaration which sets
out Board confirmation of the position on
compliance with national targets and other
prescribed requirements.
• meeting with the SHA every month to
review the Trust’s performance.
For 2010/11 the Trust projected and was
rated as the following:
Contractual Risk Rating: Green
(Contract with NHS Hertfordshire as the
principal commissioner signed off)
Governance Risk Rating: Amber
Financial Risk Rating: 2
For 2011/12 the Trust is projecting:
Contractual Risk Rating: Green
Governance Risk Rating: Green
Financial Risk Rating: 3
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Patient care - listening and learning

The patient is at the centre of all we do and improving the patient experience
whilst in our care remains paramount. We must also be alert to what patients and
visitors think of our services at all times.
During 2010/11 we continued to work on the
wide range of areas that constitute the patient
experience and much of this is explained in the
Quality Account section of this report.
As part of our first Quality Account last year,
we identified patient experience as a priority,
seeking to increase the services where we
make changes as a result of patient feedback.
In addition, one of our CQUIN (Commissioning
for Quality & Innovation) payments was to
fund the introduction of a questionnaire to
patients in our inpatient units. The future NHS
commissioning of community services, with
the extension of patient choice, will only
add to the importance of patient views
and feedback.
During 2010/11, we have developed our
patient experience team to have a wider focus
than complaints and have moved to ensuring
that we are capturing patients’ views from a
wide range of sources.

National survey results
As a community NHS Trust we are not expected
to participate in the national inpatient survey.
However, as an organisation, from Quarter 2
(July-September 2010) onwards, we have
undertaken inpatient surveys which have
included national questions. 506 patients have
completed the surveys during this period.
The surveys have highlighted areas that we
need to continue to develop in order to ensure
that the patient experience is improved in
all areas.
Complaints and PALS
HCT received 192 complaints during 2010/11
compared with 173 in 2009/10, an increase of
19. We have made a concerted effort through
the year to improve our response rates to
complaints. In 2009/10 only 31% were resolved
in agreed timescales. For 2010/11, 73% of
complaints were dealt with in the timeframe.

Percentage of complaints responded to within the timescale agreed with the complainant
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There was a significant increase in the number
of complaints closed within the agreed time
frames in the second half of the year. This
improvement was due to:

PALS received 445 enquiries and 73% of
all enquiries were resolved within an hour.
We have received 449 compliments in relation
to our services against a total of 428 2009/10.

• an increase in the monitoring of complaints
at service level

Principles for Remedy

• additional support from the Quality Directorate
in compiling written responses
• training provided to teams around the
complaints process and guidelines of good
practice when managing complaints and
written responses
• an increase in the number of complaints
being resolved within 24 hours of receipt.
The most frequently highlighted themes of
complaint related to:
• standards of care
• access to services
• communication
• attitude of staff.

The Trust follows the six principles set
down by the Parliamentary and Health Service
Ombudsman in ‘Principles for Remedy’
(revised February 2009).
The aim of these principles is to ensure that
instances of injustice or hardship as a result of
poor service or maladministration are redressed.
The principles are:
1 Getting it right
2 Being customer focused
3 Being open and accountable
4 Acting fairly and proportionately
5 Putting things right
6 Seeking continuous improvement.
How have we met these principles:

Lessons learnt and actions taken:

• We have incorporated the NHS complaints
procedures into our own policy.

• In response to a delay in written
communication sent to GPs, we have set a
minimum timescale to send letters out.

• The Chief Executive takes a personal interest
in all complaints and the quality of
investigation and response.

• Reception staff have undergone customer
care training following increased complaints
about staff attitude.

• We have a responsive Patient Advice and
Liaison Service (PALS) which can resolve
many problems or concerns without the
need for a formal complaint.

• A single point of contact has been introduced
within the community nursing service to
improve communication between the service
and patients.
As an organisation we take complaints seriously
and are using a wide range of methods to assist
in resolving complaints in a timely manner and
to the satisfaction of the complainant.

• We have in place a ‘losses and
compensations’ procedure.
• Regular reporting to the Board of complaints
received as part of the Trust’s performance
monitoring.

These have included increasing the number of
‘local resolution’ face-to-face meetings and
working to resolve complaints within 24 hours
where feasible.
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Privacy and dignity

Infection prevention and control

We have maintained compliance with same
sex accommodation within our inpatient units
and have ongoing monitoring. Questions on
same sex accommodation are also included in
our inpatient surveys.

The prevention and control of infection are an
integral part of our work and all staff are aware
of their roles and responsibilities in following
best practice in infection control in a variety of
environments including community hospitals,
health centres and patients’ own homes.

We have continued to embed the wider
concept of patients’ privacy and dignity across
the organisation, and have introduced Dignity
Champions within our inpatient units with the
aim of broadening this out across other
services. Trust services actively participated in
the National Dignity Day in February 2011 to
promote dignity issues.
Patient Experience Action Team (PEAT)
PEAT assessments are undertaken within our
community hospital sites. For 2010 the results
have improved across all units. All 12 units
received ‘Good’ scores for Privacy and Dignity.
Only one unit received a ‘Poor’ score for
environment - Windmill House - and this unit
has since undergone refurbishment. A rating
of ‘Acceptable’ was received for food in two
units. To improve this rating we have now:
• put in place a nutritional steering group
• encouraged the development of local
food groups.
We shall continue to monitor the impact
of these initiatives. Early indications are that
our 2011 PEAT scores should be improved
in all areas.

In HCT our Medical Director has overall
responsibility for infection prevention and
control. This work is supported by the Infection
Prevention and Control Team which consist
of a Lead Infection Control Nurse, two other
infection control nurses and administrative
support.
Our aim is to prevent where possible all
cases of health care associated infections.
The Infection Control Team is responsible for
closely monitoring and working with our staff
to undertake a detailed analysis to determine
what lessons can be learnt and what steps
need to be taken to prevent the occurrence
of similar infections.
There were five cases of MRSA (against a target
of four) and 18 cases of Clostridium difficile
(against a target of 24 cases), a reduction from
30 in 2008/09. Year on year progress is being
made to reduce our rates of infection with
ongoing education of staff to promote good
hygiene, environmental cleanliness and good
clinical practice, ensuring patients feel safe in
our care.
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Working with our partners

In planning and developing our services to meet
the local health care needs of local people, HCT
has been determined to develop strong
relations with partner organisations in health,
social care, the voluntary sector and education.
These include our main commissioner - NHS
Hertfordshire - the 13 local Practice Based
Commissioners and other GP practices, our
colleagues in other NHS trusts, Hertfordshire
County Council and other local authorities,
University of Hertfordshire, Hertfordshire Police
and others. We have invited representatives
from a number of key stakeholder organisations
to stand as appointed Governors on our
prospective Council of Governors. We have
stated as a main CFT aim our vision of a culture
of involvement and collaboration that will help
us provide a service which is more responsive to
local people’s needs.
Local managers will continue to maintain
links with local PBC groups and the emerging
GP Clinical Commissioning Groups to focus on
improving the current services to patients and
to look at more innovative ways of working
especially in the care of children and those
with long term conditions.
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HCT, along with Welwyn and Hatfield shadow
GP Consortia, East and North Herts NHS Trust
and Hertfordshire County Council, are
working together to put in place a multi
agency single point of contact. The aim is to
reduce unnecessary admissions from care
homes, and reduce duplication of enablement
and intermediate care services. This will deliver
improved access and response times for
patients and help keep more people at home.
Health scrutiny
We are held to account by Hertfordshire County
Council’s Health Scrutiny Committee and attend
meetings to answer to issues related to the
development of community health care in the
NHS. During February to April 2011, we were
involved in a joint consultation exercise with
NHS Hertfordshire over proposals to transfer
services from Windmill House, Bushey to other
Trust facilities in the locality. This included full
consultation with the staff concerned.
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Staff wellbeing

The cumulative absence rate (WTE) for the
12 month period to March 2011 was 4.15%
(equivalent to 7.47 days per employee per year).
The 2010 Chartered Institute of Personnel and
Development Absence Management Survey
reported that the average employee absence
in the public sector was 9.6 days per employee.
The Trust target for sickness absence is 3.5%
(6.3 days), which is below the average for the
private sector, and HCT will be working
towards improving this year on year.
Ensuring that employees are safe and healthy
at work is one of the fundamental
requirements of any employer. Data produced
from our Employee Assistance Programme
regarding the number of staff contacts and
the reasons for these are used to monitor staff
wellbeing along with health and safety and
sickness data.

The Trust has a proactive occupational health
service which aims to help our staff keep
physically and mentally well (see page 34).
Stress awareness sessions are delivered to
managers and staff to help them to identify
stress, both in themselves and in their
workforce. Healthy living is the key focus
of occupational health’s support for our staff.
Staff survey and our response
HCT encourage staff to participate in the
national NHS Staff Survey. The questionnaires
for the 2010 staff survey were distributed to a
random selection of 800 staff and designed to
gather staff views about the Trust of which
54.87% were completed and returned.
The findings are arranged under six
headings - the four staff pledges from the
NHS Constitution, and the two additional
themes of staff satisfaction and equality and
diversity. HCT is compared against the 2010
national average for PCTs and care trusts
without mental health services.

STAFF PLEDGE 1
To provide all staff with clear roles and responsibilities and rewarding jobs for
teams and individuals that make a difference to patients, their families and carers.
There are nine key findings under this pledge,
for six of these HCT either matched the national
average or was within 3% of this. The biggest
variation (5%) occurred in the percentage of
staff agreeing that their role makes a difference
to patients, where the national average was
89% and HCT scored 94%.

With regard to staff working extra hours 67%
said that in an average week they work longer
than the hours for which they are contracted,
in comparison with the national average of
63% with only 68% of respondents saying
that they use flexible working options, e.g. flexi
time, part-time working, annualised hours, etc
compared with the national average of 72%.

STAFF PLEDGE 2
To provide all staff with personal development, access to appropriate training for
their jobs and line management to succeed
There are six key findings under this pledge,
for four of these, HCT either matched the
national average or was within 2% of this.
The biggest variation (6%) came in the area
of opportunities to develop potential at work
where only 34% of respondents believed
that this was the case in comparison with
the national average of 40%. However, 82%

of staff said that they had received training,
learning or development paid for or provided
by the Trust in the last 12 months, which had
helped them do their job better, stay up-to-date
with their job, or stay up-to-date with
professional requirements in comparison with
the national average of 79%.

Annual Report and Accounts 2010-2011

25

Performance report

STAFF PLEDGE 3
To provide support and opportunity for staff to maintain their health,
well-being and safety.
There are 14 key findings under this pledge
divided under the headings of health & safety,
infection control and hygiene, errors and
incidents, violence and harassment and health
and well-being. In all but two of these HCT
either matched the national average or was
within 3% of this.

Under the heading of violence and
harassment 14% of respondents said that
they had experienced harassment, bullying or
abuse from patients/service users, relatives of
patients/service users, or other members of
the public in the last 12 months compared
with the national average of 10%.

96% of respondents who had witnessed an
error, near miss or incident in the last month
said that they, or a colleague, had reported it.

STAFF PLEDGE 4
To engage staff in decisions that affect them and the services they provide,
individually, through representative organisations and through local partnership
working arrangements. All staff will be empowered to put forward ways to
deliver better and safer services for patients and their families.
There are six key findings under this pledge,
in all but one of these HCT either matched or
was within 1% of the national average.
With a national average of 32%, 27% of staff
agreed with at least four of the following six
statements - senior managers try to involve
staff in important decisions; communication
between senior management and staff is
effective; senior managers encourage staff to
suggest new ideas for improving services; they
know who the senior managers are; health care
professionals and managers in non-clinical
roles work well together; and senior managers
act on staff feedback.
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However, 67% of staff (the same as the
national average) agreed with at least two of
the following three statements: they are able
to make suggestions to improve the work of
their team; there are frequent opportunities
for them to show initiative in their role; and
they are able to make improvements happen
at work.

Annual Report and Accounts 2010-2011

Performance report

STAFF SATISFACTION
Staff satisfaction was measured in the following
areas: recognition for good work; support from
immediate manager and colleagues; freedom to
choose methods of working; amount of
responsibility; opportunities to use skills; and
the extent to which HCT is seen to value the
work of staff. Possible scores range from 1 to 5,
with 1 representing very dissatisfied staff and 5
representing very satisfied staff. HCT’s score was
3.56 in comparison with the national average
of 3.58.

EDUCATION AND TRAINING
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust is fully
committed to supporting all staff to develop
and enhance the skills they have to provide
excellent patient care or the support services
we need.
Our staff attend training to ensure they can
deliver safe care, for example infection control
and hand hygiene, health and safety and fire
training. This year, over 2,000 mandatory
training events were held, with 11,000 staff
attending. More of our training is being
delivered as e-learning where staff learn at
their computers in a local base, rather than
requiring them to travel to training sessions,
freeing up time for patient care. And we will
be looking at increasing this even further over
the next year.

Making sure that clinical skills are up to date
is also vital, and increasing the range of skills
our staff has means they can provide care at
home that previously would have required a
trip to hospital. We have trained many more
staff this year in Intravenous therapy
administration and good nutrition.
We have been working with our clinical
managers to ensure that as well as being
excellent clinicians, they are skilled in planning
services and leading teams to deliver high
quality, safe care.
Finally, our very specialist staff cannot be
trained locally so HCT and NHS East have
England have provided funding for individuals
to go to specialist centres. For example, our
paediatric occupational therapists have been
developing their skills in working with
children with autism.

EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY
HCT is committed to being an organisation
within which diversity, equality and human
rights are valued. We will not discriminate
either directly or indirectly and will not tolerate
harassment or victimisation in relation to gender,
marital status (including civil partnership),
gender reassignment, disability, race, age,
sexual orientation, religion or belief, trade
union membership, status as a fixed-term or
part-time worker, socio-economic status and
pregnancy or maternity.
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Working for a sustainable future

The Trust worked with NHS Hertfordshire
through 2010/11 on a strategy with the Carbon
Reduction Trust. Work to disaggregate the
baseline C02 emissions and develop a stand
alone strategy will commence during 2011/12.
The Trust’s energy usage is currently insufficient
for full participation in the CRC Energy Efficiency
Scheme’s Cap and Trade arrangements.
The Trust aims to reduce the total C02 emissions
from our activities by 20% from the 2008/09
baseline by December 2015.
To meet our target by 2015, we have set
targets for our buildings, transport, waste and
procurement:
• Reduce carbon emissions from buildings.
Reduce carbon emissions from our estate by
25% by 2015.
• Reduce our impact from transport emissions
from staff and patient travel.
Reduce carbon emissions related to staff
business travel by 10% by 2015 by
reviewing the way the Trust works across a
large geographical area to ensure services
and facilities are provided in such a way
that minimises as far as practicable the
environmental impact; and to include
environmental criteria in specifications
for third party transport contracts by 2013.

In the baseline year of 2008/09, it is estimated
that the provider arm of NHS Hertfordshire,
the predecessor to HCT, produced 6,678
tonnes of C02. 5,101 tonnes of C02 was
produced from energy usage with the
balance created by transport activities.
We have identified a number of projects
over the coming five years to reduce carbon
consumption across our estate and
working activities:
• Improvements to the built estate:
Increase energy efficiency, whilst improving
working conditions for our staff.
Improvements will focus on optimising
existing building controls, upgrading
controls and making improvements to the
building fabric, lighting, heating systems
and upgrading inefficient building plant.
• Travel:
Reduce travel through the promotion of car
sharing, incentivising low carbon modes of
transport and vehicles, whilst maximising
the use of information technology.
• Waste:
Increase recycling and improved clinical
waste segregation.

• Minimise waste, reduce incineration waste
and increase recycling.
Reduce waste by 20% by 2015 and increase
waste recycling to 50% of the Trust’s total
waste arising by 2015.
• Strengthen our procurement policies
and practices to include environmental and
carbon criteria.
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Information governance

The Trust works to a framework for handling
personal information in a confidential and
secure manner to meet ethical and quality
standards. This enables NHS organisations
in England, and individuals working in them,
to ensure personal information is dealt with
legally, securely, effectively and efficiently to
deliver the best possible care to patients
and clients.

The Trust, via the Information Governance
Toolkit, provides the means by which the
NHS and Trust can assess our compliance
with current legislation, Government and
national guidance.

Emergency preparedness
HCT has robust processes in place to ensure
that emergency planning and resilience work
is carried out appropriately.
The Trust has three levels of on-call in place
which operate across 24 hours and seven days
a week to deliver continuity of leadership
and management.

Notification of a major incident from an
external partner would be directed to the
Director on-call, who would put in place
the required response.
Business Continuity Plans are being continually
updated for all corporate and operational
services in the Trust.
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The Trust Board

The Trust Board consists of a Chairman,
appointed through the Appointments
Commission; four Non-Executive Directors
(also appointed through the Appointments
Commission); and Executive Directors.
The Board is responsible for setting and
developing the strategic direction of the
organisation, sustaining business viability
and holding the Executive Directors to
account for all aspects of the organisation’s
activities, including quality and safety of
patient services, financial management and
legal compliance. The role also includes
seeking assurances from the Executive
Directors that risks to the organisation are
being appropriately assessed and managed.

The Board has a duty to operate in a way
that is transparent and to comply with
best practice in probity. To this end, the
Board has signed up to following the
“Nolan Principles” of good governance,
The NHS Code of Conduct and Accountability
and The NHS Code of Openness. The Board
has also subscribed to principles of Board
Etiquette as set out in the NHS Integrated
Governance Handbook.

As a general rule, the HCT Board meets
formally every other month, with a “Board
Briefing” or “Board Development Session”
held in the intervening months.

THE BOARD OF THE TRUST AS AT 31 MARCH 2011
Declan O’Farrell Chair
Declan was appointed Chair of Hertfordshire Community Health Services
in February 2010. He is also the Chair of West Herts College in Watford
and Dacorum which has recently been rated ‘outstanding’ by OFSTED.
Previously he was chair of a London Training & Enterprise Council and
of Business Link London. He was awarded a CBE in 2000. An FCCA
qualified accountant, he held senior financial roles before becoming
Managing Director of a London Transport bus division, which after
privatisation was successfully listed on the London Stock Exchange.
Period of Appointment: 01/11/10 - 31/03/13
Julian Laite Non Executive Director
Julian was appointed Non Executive Director in April 2010. He is an
expert in organisational development, performance management and
public finance. Currently the Managing Director of a management
consultancy, previously Julian was an academic at Manchester University
and then a senior official at HM Treasury. He became a management
consultant at KPMG in the early 1990s, and was the Partner for
International Development at PA Consulting from 2003 to 2008.
He has led and managed over 50 large-scale public sector reform and
institutional strengthening projects both in the UK and around the world.
Period of Appointment: 01/11/10 - 31/03/13
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Anne McPherson Non Executive Director
Anne was appointed NED in April 2010. She is a trained nurse
and has worked as a Director of Nursing. She has held a range of
NHS Non Executive posts her most recent being Dacorum PCT and
then West Hertfordshire PCT. Anne’s area of particular special
interest has been patient safety and patient experience.
Period of Appointment: 01/11/10 - 31/03/13

Alan Russell Deputy Chairman and Non Executive Director
Alan was appointed NED in April 2010. He was previously Managing
Director of Logica Consulting UK, prior to which he was the Managing
Director of Atos Consulting and Chair of its global consulting Board.
Both companies engaged in complex transformational change
programmes for public and private sector organisations. He was a
Director of the Management Consultancies Association and President
in 2005. Alan is Vice Chair of the Trust Board.
Period of Appointment: 01/11/10 - 31/03/13
Alison White Non Executive Director
Alison was appointed NED in September 2010. Alison is a qualified
Chartered Management Accountant and has built up extensive experience
as an interim chief executive, most recently for the General Dental Council.
Prior to this, she worked for 25 years for the Royal Mail starting as a
counter clerk and leaving as the director of one of its national businesses,
with responsibility for more than half its revenue. Alison is Chair of the
Trust’s Audit Committee
Period of Appointment: 01/11/10 - 31/03/13
Karen Taylor Interim Chief Executive
Karen joined HCT in February 2010 as Director of Operations/Deputy
Chief Executive having previously worked as Executive Director of
Operations in an acute Trust in London. Karen commenced her NHS
career in 1998 on the NHS Management Training Scheme (MTS) and she
has extensive experience having worked in a variety of acute, community
and primary care organisations. She has also worked at a national level
as part of the Modernisation Agency’s programme for Improving Hospitals.
Qualified to Degree and Post Graduate level, Karen completed the NHS
London ‘Aspiring CEO programme’ in 2009.
0n 9 May 2011, Derek Smith commenced in post as Interim Chief
Executive and Karen Taylor reverted back to Deputy Chief Executive.
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Gordon Flack Director of Finance and Commerce
Gordon joined HCT in November 2010 having previously worked as
Executive Director of Finance at an acute Trust in Essex. Gordon commenced
his NHS career in 1984 and has extensive experience in a variety of NHS
sectors and overseen Information, Procurement, IT and Estates as well as
Finance. He is a Fellow of the ACCA and has been an NHS Director or
deputy director for 18 years. He completed the Monitor sponsored, Cass
Business School run Strategic Financial Management Programme in 2007.

Joel Bonnet Medical Director
Joel following qualification in 1981 worked in general practice for 10 years,
going on to complete his specialist training in Public Health Medicine in
2000. He then came to work in the Hertfordshire health economy and
has undertaken a number of senior public health posts at Health Authority
and PCT level, including Director of Public Health and Consultant in
Public Health roles.

Clare Hawkins Director of Quality and Governance
Clare joined HCT as Director of Quality and Governance in March 2011,
having previously worked as Deputy Director and Director of Nursing and
Quality in NHS Hertfordshire. Clare trained as a nurse, district nurse and
nurse practitioner. Since 1995 her NHS management experience includes
a number of posts in London and as Director of Nursing and Operations
and Deputy Chief Executive for Dacorum PCT. Her particular areas of
interest are patient safety, patient experience and clinical leadership.
Clare is the Board lead for safeguarding.
Gloria Barber Director of HR and Organisational Development*
Gloria joined the NHS in 1990 having previously worked in the civil service.
Prior to her appointment in 2007 as Director of Human Resources for NHS
East and North Hertfordshire and NHS West Hertfordshire, she was
Workforce Lead at the Bedfordshire and Hertfordshire Strategic Health
Authority where she was responsible for recruitment and retention and the
implementation of Agenda for Change and E-Recruitment (NHS Jobs).
Before that, she was Head of Human Resources for East and North Herts
NHS Trust.
Julie Hoare
Acting Director of Operations*
Julie took on the role of Acting Director of Operations in December 2010,
after joining the organisation as Assistant Director of Operations in
September 2009. She is a registered nurse and health visitor, and started
her management career in 1997. Julie is particularly interested in service
transformation and staff development.

* Non-Voting Board Member
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THE FOLLOWING WERE MEMBERS OF THE BOARD DURING THE YEAR 2010/11
Heather Moulder Chief Executive
(until February 2011)
Jessica Linskill Director of Quality & Governance
(until March 2011)
Robert Kirton Interim Director of Finance
(until December 2010)

THE AUDIT COMMITTEE
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust has
an Audit Committee with the following
Non Executive Director members:
Alison White Chair
Julian Laite Member

Although an Audit Committee operated in
shadow form as part of Hertfordshire Community
Health Services between April and October 2010,
the Audit Committee was formally established as
a committee of the Trust Board when the Trust
was established on 1 November 2010.

AUDITORS
Internal Audit Services are provided by RSM
Tenon and the external Auditors are the Audit
Commission, who were appointed in November
2010.
The cost of external audit for work undertaken
in 2010/11 was £118,800. The external
auditors have not undertaken any non-audit
work which may have given rise to conflict of
interest or compromised the audit function.

As far as the directors are aware there is no
relevant audit information of which the NHS
body’s auditors are unaware and that the
directors have taken all the steps that they
ought to have taken as directors in order to
make themselves aware of any relevant audit
information and to establish that the auditors
are aware of that information.
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Public interest disclosures

Informing and involving staff

Our disabled employees

HCT is committed to keeping our staff fully
informed about the organisation, its activities
and policies. For staff to be motivated and
committed to providing high quality services,
we need to provide them with information,
consult them on key decisions and listen to their
concerns. HCT has established a number of
formal mechanisms to ensure the involvement
of staff and staff side organisations on a wide
range of issues, including service developments,
new policies and updates on key matters
relating to Trust business. Throughout 2010,
members of the Executive Team carried out a
number of staff Roadshows in which they
visited units and facilitates to discuss the
organisation’s plans for the future and gain an
insight into staff views and concerns. The Trust
keeps managers and staff up to date with news
and policy changes through the monthly Chief
Executive’s Team Brief.

HCT is a two ticks symbol champion for recruiting
and supporting people in the workplace who
have disabilities. The Occupational Health
Service and HR team provide clear guidance
to managers and staff on how to work with
people with disabilities. All managers are
given clear instructions regarding the best
possible support for their staff in the
workplace and the provision of reasonable
adjustments.

A new staff website was launched in
November 2010. We will continue to develop
the staff website. A staff Notice Board was
launched on the email to all staff giving them
a weekly update on news and happenings at
the Trust and in the local NHS. Staff are
encouraged to feedback on views and
comments via a communications email
address. Staff were actively involved with the
drawing up of the Trust’s Vision and Values
ensuring greater ownership. Regular induction
days are held to introduce new staff to the
vision and values and our commitment to
quality. The Trust has also been engaging staff
throughout the formal consultation period of
the community foundation trust holding a
number of meetings, inviting staff to formal
public meetings and providing staff with their
own summary of the main consultation
document. The Joint Staff Consultative
committee meets on a monthly basis to
ensure the views of employees are taken into
account when the Trust is making decisions.

The Attendance Management Policy states
that the advice of the Disability Employment
Adviser must be sought when looking for
alternative employment or redeployment for
staff. Our Health and Safety experts conduct
workplace assessments as required.
We are an equal opportunities employer
HCT has an equal opportunities policy which
aims to ensure that all employees, irrespective
of their background, are supported to develop
their full potential. An equal opportunity
statement is also included in all contracts of
employment to ensure staff are aware of their
responsibilities. HCT is determined to ensure
that we practise a culture of equality, diversity
and human rights, that we improve relations
with our diverse local population and that we
identify health inequalities amongst our
patient groups.
Occupational health performance
The Occupational Health (OH) Department
offers a confidential service that provides
impartial advice to employees and managers
that aims to ensure that employees’ health
and wellbeing are maintained, protected and
promoted. On 1 March 2011 the OH
department became an in-house service of
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust.

Health and safety performance
The Trust has a proactive approach to health
and safety. Designated risk officers implement
Trust policies and ensure health and safety
is applied locally and training is provided for
all staff.
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The team comprises four senior occupational
health nurses, an occupational health nurse
(0.8 WTE), two occupational health clinic
nurses, an occupational health physician and
support staff.
The OH department is based at Kingsley Green
(Harperbury) near Radlett, and regular clinics are
held at Gossoms End, Berkhamstead, Park Drive
Clinic, Baldock, Cheshunt Community Hospital
and Herts and Essex Hospital.
New employee health assessments
The procedure for assessing the health of new
employees changed from 1 October 2010
following the introduction of the Equality Act
(2010) which made it unlawful to ask job
applicants general questions about their
health, medical history or disability prior to
making an offer of employment. The OH
department worked closely with the Human
Resources department to ensure that the
processes followed by the Trust adhere to
the new legislation and ensure that the
health, safety and wellbeing of staff and
patients are protected.
During 2010/11:
• 417 OH forms for new members of staff
were assessed and 41 of these attended
an appointment for an occupational health
assessment.
• 61 wellbeing appointments were made.
• 1,004 appointments were attended for
occupational immunisations. During these
appointments 337 vaccines were given and
820 blood tests were undertaken.
• There were 31 appointments following
sharps injuries.
• 295 employees were referred to the OH
department by managers which resulted in
1,032 appointments being attended.

• Seasonal Influenza vaccine was offered
to all staff with direct patient contact.
During the 2010/2011 campaign the
OH department ran 23 extra clinics at
14 locations across the county in addition
to the usual clinics. 449 staff received the
vaccine, which equates to 21.56% of
frontline staff.
Counter fraud policies and procedures
The Secretary of State’s Directions 2004 on
work to counter fraud and corruption require
NHS bodies to appoint a Local Counter Fraud
Specialist (LCFS). The overarching body until
31 March 2011 was the NHS Counter Fraud
and Security Management Service (CFSMS).
The Trust has an accredited and nominated
LCFS employed via SLA from NHS Hertfordshire
who reports directly to the Director of Finance
and Commerce.
The Trust has a Counter Fraud Policy and
Response Plan that is communicated to all
staff via the induction process and is held
on the Trust’s extranet. The Trust is currently
participating in the Audit Commission’s
National Fraud Initiative validating identified
payroll and Finance Creditors matches,
against the Trust’s databases. The Workplan
for 2010/2011 has been completed.
Charges for information
The Trust complies with Treasury Guidance on
setting charges for information.
(See Annex 6 of “Managing Public Money”
(HM Treasury, February 2010)
The Trust does not normally charge for
information. However, it reserves the right
to charge for information that incurs high
photocopying or retrieval costs or where the
information is requested in a format that
incurs extra costs. People making requests
under the Freedom of Information Act are
informed in advance of any costs that will
be charged.
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Senior managers’ remuneration
Salaries and pensions
Salaries and allowances
Name and title

Dates

Salary

Bonus
Benefits
Payments in Kind
bands of bands of rounded to
£5,000
£5,000 nearest £00
£000
£000
00

Declan O'Farell
Chair

01/11/2010 - 31/03/2011

£5 - £10

£0

£0

Alan Russell
Non-Executive Director

01/11/2010 - 31/03/2011

£0 - £5

£0

£0

Julian Laite
Non-Executive Director

01/11/2010 - 31/03/2011

£0 - £5

£0

£0

Anne McPherson
Non-Executive Director

01/11/2010 - 31/03/2011

£0 - £5

£0

£0

Alison White
Non-Executive Director

01/11/2010 - 31/03/2011

£0 - £5

£0

£0

Heather Moulder
Chief Executive

01/04/2010 - 06/02/2011

£85 - £90

£0

£0

Robert Kirton*
Interim Director of Finance & Commerce

01/11/2010 - 03/12/2010

£15 - £20

£0

£0

Gordon Flack
Director of Finance & Commerce

29/11/2010 - 31/03/2011

£35 - £40

£0

£0

Karen Taylor
Director of Operations

01/11/2010 - 31/03/2011

£45 - £50

£0

£0

Julie Hoare
Acting Director of Operations

08/12/2010 - 31/03/2011

£25 - £30

£0

£0

Jessica Linskill*
Director of Quality & Governance

01/11/2010 - 31/03/2011

£30 - £35

£0

£0

Gloria Barber
Director of Human Resources

01/11/2010 - 31/03/2011

£35 - £40

£0

£0

Dr Joel Bonnet*
Medical Director

01/11/2010 - 31/03/2011

£15 - £20

£0

£0

Clare Hawkins
Director of Quality & Governance

01/03/2011 - 31/01/2011

£5 - £10

£0

£0

Note: The Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust Board of Directors was appointed on 1 November 2010, therefore, there are no prior year
comparative figures. Whilst those with a start date of 01/11/2011 were in post prior to the creation of the Trust, the disclosures are only
for the period for which the Trust has been in existence. The costs recognised within the accounts show the restated position following the
transfer of functions.
*Robert Kirton was employed through an agency on a temporary basis.
*Jessica Linskill retired on 4 March 2011.
*Joel Bonnet is employed by NHS Hertfordshire and recharged to the Trust.
Karen Taylor was Acting Chief Execuitve for the period 6 December 2010 to 9 May 2011.
Julie Hoare was acting Director of Operations from 8 December 2010.
Heather Moulder was a Director of NHS Hertfordshire for the period 1 April 2010 to 31 October 2010 and Trust Chief Executive from 1 November.
Heather began a secondment in February 2011 and will not return to the Trust.
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Pensions
Name and title

Heather Moulder
Chief Executive

Real
Real
Total
Lump sum
Cash
Cash
Real
Employers
increase in increase in accrued at age 60 equivalent equivalent increase contributions
pension
pension
pension related to
transfer
transfer
in cash
to
at age
lump
at age
accrued
value at
value at equivalant stakeholder
60
sum
60 at
pension at 31 March 31 March
transfer
pension
at age
31 March 31 March
2010
2011
value
60
2011
2011
(bands of
(bands of
(bands of
(bands of
2,500)
2,500)
5,000)
5,000)
£000

£000

£0 - £2.5

£2.5 - £5

£000

£000

£35 - £40 £115 - £120

£000

£000

£000

£720

£644

-£76

Karen Taylor
Acting Chief Executive

£15 - £20

£45 - £50

£153

Gordon Flack
Director of Finance & Commerce

£30 - £35

£95 - £100

£485

Julie Hoare
Acting Director of Operations

£20 - £25

£60 - £65

£298

Jessica Linskill
Director of Quality & Governance

£35 - £40 £105 - £110

£0

Gloria Barber
Director of Human Resources

£35 - £40 £105 - £110

£0

£000

Dr Joel Bonnet*
Medical Director
Clare Hawkins
Director of Quality & Governance

£20 - £25

£60 - £65

£296

*Joel Bonnet - NHS Hertfordshire has been unable to provide pension information.
Comparative information for 2009/10 was requested from the NHS Pensions Agency but was not provided.
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Register of interests

Board Members
Name and title

Interests declared

Chair and Non Executive Directors as at 31 March 2011
Declan O'Farrell
Chair

Director: Castletown Corporation Ltd
Chair of Corporation: West Herts College

Julian Laite
Non-Executive Director

Managing Director: Julian Laite Consulting Ltd

Anne McPherson
Non-Executive Director

Executive Officer: The Association for Leaders in Nursing (from 2008)
Independent Chairman: Bedfordshire, Hertfordshire & Luton PCTs
Performance Advisory Panel
Consultancy: NHS Hertfordshire

Alan Russell
Non-Executive Director

Director: Bury Lake Young Mariners Limited
(prospective FT) Member of West Herts Hospitals NHS Trust

Alison White
Non-Executive Director

None

Executive Directors as at 31 March 2011
Gloria Barber*
Director of Workforce

None

Joel Bonnet
Medical Director

Deputy Medical Director/Consultant: Public Health, NHS Hertfordshire

Gordon Flack
Director of Finance & Commerce

None

Clare Hawkins
Director of Quality & Governance

None

Julie Hoare*
Interim Director of Operations

None

Karen Taylor
Interim Chief Executive

None

No longer in post as at 31 March 2011
Robert Kirton
Interim Director of Finance

Director: Mela Consulting Ltd

Jessica Linskill
Director of Quality & Governance

None

Heather Moulder
Chief Executive

None

* Non Voting Member
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Chief Executive’s statement
I am pleased to present our Quality Account
which outlines our continuing commitment
to improve the quality and safety of the care
we provide for our patients.
Everyone has the right to safe and effective
care, and we want you to feel happy with the
care you receive from us so that, should you
need to do so, you will be confident to return
to us in the future.

Our Annual Report details our key successes in
2010/11. I would like to take this opportunity
to highlight three of these in more detail as
they demonstrate the improvements we have
made to the quality of services for our patients:

The Quality Account summarises what we
have done over the last year to ensure quality
of care and it also describes our priorities for
the next 12 months. Our priorities have been
influenced by feedback from our patients,
carers, staff and stakeholders, and by the
requirements of our regulatory bodies.

• We asked patients staying on our bed-based
units what they thought of the care they
received and I am pleased to report that
98% patients surveyed reported the quality
of their care as good or better. However, we
want to move this so that the majority of
patients are rating their care as excellent.

The information presented in the Quality
Account is accurate and true to the best of
my knowledge.

• In 2010 we established a new diabetes service
in the community. This reduced waiting times
for patients and also meant patients no longer
had to attend the hospitals for their routine
care, but could attend local clinics - reducing
travel time by providing care closer to home.

Our commitment to quality
One of our key objectives as an NHS Trust is
“to provide services which people choose and
recommend for patient safety, clinical
effectiveness and patient experience”.
As an independent NHS organisation from
1 November 2010, we are registered with
the Care Quality Commission (the key quality
regulator for the NHS) and are compliant with
all standards. This provides a level of assurance
that we must maintain, but it is not the end
point in itself.
In determining our quality priorities for
2011/12 we are seeking to make tangible
differences to the care our patients receive.
This is set within the context of delivering
care in the community or in patients’ homes
avoiding unnecessary hospital visits and
admissions. This is an important element
of improving the quality of patient care.
Improving quality involves every member of
staff working within the organisation - nurses,
doctors, allied healthcare professionals (such
as therapists and dietitians), receptionists,
secretaries and managers. It involves ensuring
the patient is at the heart of everything we do,
and that our plans and developments for the
future focus on improving patient outcomes.

• When patients leave our care they often
need to have ongoing care either in their
own home or in a nursing home. This year
we reduced the number of patients who
faced a delay in this process by over 50%.
We recognise there is more work to be done,
but believe this has already substantially
improved our patients’ experience.
Whilst we are proud of our successes, we want
to do better and in this Quality Account we
have outlined those areas we have prioritised
for improvement in the coming year.
Finally, on behalf of the Board I would like to
thank our staff - we cannot continue to make
improvements and deliver high quality care
without them.

Derek Smith
Interim Chief Executive Officer
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How we decided our quality priorities
for the next 12 months
In determining the areas that Hertfordshire
Community NHS Trust (HCT) should focus
on for our quality improvements for 2011/12,
we sought the views of our patients, carers,
staff and stakeholders in a number of ways
which have included:
• an analysis of themes from the complaints
received, incidents reported and concerns
raised via our Patient Advice & Liaison Service
(PALS) during 2010/11
• an interactive poll on our website attracting
responses from over 500 people
• feedback from representatives of
Hertfordshire County Council,
NHS Hertfordshire (the Primary Care Trust)
and Hertfordshire Local Involvement
Network (LINk)

After careful consideration of the main themes
that emerged from this feedback, our Trust
Board agreed five priorities for 2011/12.
All five priorities are about delivering better
outcomes for patients.
Three of the priorities remain the same as last
year so that we can build on the good progress
that was made; one priority is being extended
from our bed-based units into our community
services and one is a new priority.

• staff responses to a survey on our
internal website
• discussions with our staff in team and
committee meetings.
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Improving patient experience
PRIORITY 1
To further demonstrate changes in services as a result of patient feedback.

“

The reception
staff are very efficient
and polite. I have
recommended the
clinic to my friends
and family as it
is such a relaxed
environment.

”

Patient

Family Planning Clinic

Being able to see our services from a patient’s
view point is crucial if we are to provide care
which puts our patients at the heart of what
we do. We want to gather more of our
patients’ views and learn from more of their
experiences more of the time. Patient feedback
remains a vital factor in shaping our services
and delivering the improvements that are
needed in the quality of care we provide. It is
also important to listen to our patients to find
out when we have got it right. We have
increased the range of systems for seeking
patient feedback and demonstrated
improvements made as a result during the
past year, but we know we can do more.

We will introduce hand-held devices to gather
almost instant feedback, introduce on-line
surveys, gather more patient stories with
support from our Patient Experience Team
and continue to work with Hertfordshire LINk
to facilitate feedback from local interest and
specialist groups. We will continue to
empower, engage and support our staff to
enable them to provide the quality of care
which they would be happy for their families
and friends to receive.

Our aim - 50% of services will show real changes based upon feedback from our patients
Measures we will report to our Board

What is our current position?

Percentage of patients surveyed rating their overall
experience as very good or excellent

86% (for 2010/11)

Percentage of patients surveyed who would recommend
the service to a relative or friend

95% (for 2010/11)

Staff that would be happy with the standard of care at
the Trust if friends or family needed treatment

3.44*

Other measures we will use to track progress
Percentage of services in which patient feedback has resulted in specific change
Number of different ways services are seeking patients’ views and experiences
* Source National Staff Survey 2010, range 1-5, higher score is better (national average 3.47)
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PRIORITY 2
To improve the nutritional status of our patients whilst they are in our care.
We believe our patients and carers should be
better informed about their nutritional needs
and choices and we want to improve their
nutritional status whilst they are in our care.
Improving nutritional care is supported by a
number of national initiatives from encouraging
and supporting mothers to breastfeed their
babies, encouraging healthy weight in our
children and helping the elderly, frail and those
with long-term conditions to stay nourished
and hydrated.

Feedback from our patients and their
families has shown us that this is an area for
improvement where we can help by working
with our partner organisations as well as
directly with our patients and their carers.
We will promote national initiatives with our
patients and their families, provide helpful
information to our patients and improve the
nutritional assessment and review of patients
in our core community services and in our
bed-based units.

Our aim - to consistently achieve well against the measures listed below
Measures we will report to our Board

What is our current position?

Percentage of babies seen within 14 days of birth

98% (March)

Percentage of children weighed in school (in reception and year 6)

93.6% reception year (March)
89.6% year 6 (March)

Number of patients with diabetes attending structured
education programmes

600 (for 2010/11)

Percentage of patients with their risk of malnutrition assessed
on admission to our adult core community services

57% community teams*
62% bed-based units**

Other measures we will use to track progress
Percentage of patients in our adult core community services at risk of malnutrition with a nutritional
care plan in place
*Source: local clinical audit, November 2010
**Source: local clinical audit, January 2011

UNICEF UK Baby Friendly Initiative
www.babyfriendly.org.uk
Healthy Schools Programme
www.healthiergeneration.org/schools
Keeping Nourished High Impact Actions for Nursing and Midwifery
www.institute.nhs.uk/building_capability/general/aims
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Assuring patient safety
PRIORITY 3
To further reduce the number of reported patient falls within our bed-based units.

“

I understand
that resources
are limited but if
[my mother] has
another fracture it
will cost the NHS a
lot more money in
operations.

”

We want fewer patients to experience a fall
whilst in our care and not to come to harm
should they fall. We have reduced the number
of our patients experiencing a fall by 15%
during 2010/11. We have done this by better
identifying those at risk and introducing a falls
prevention care plan. But we believe we can
reduce the numbers further and make more
of a difference for our patients by building
on our multi-disciplinary working and staff
engagement, and better identifying patients
with dementia who are at increased risk
of falling.

We will do this by launching our revised Falls
Policy, establishing a multi-disciplinary falls
team in every unit to assess patients who are
identified to be at high risk of falling and
putting in place tailored care plans, and by
training our staff on the units in dementia
awareness.

Relative

Our aim - a 20% reduction in falls compared to 2010/11
Measures we will report to our Board

What is our current position?

Patient falls per 1000 occupied bed days

10.147 (March)

Number of patients who fell (during this month)
who have fallen more than once during their stay

17 (March)

Other measures we will use to track progress
Patient falls resulting in harm per 1000 occupied bed days
Percentage of our patients who are at high risk of falling who have a falls care plan in place
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PRIORITY 4
To extend the good practice in reducing infections from our bed-based units
into the community, and to continue to reduce Clostridium difficile (C diff) rates
in our bed-based units.

We are proud to have continued to reduce the
incidence of patients contracting C diff infections
in our bed-based units to 18 cases during the
past year and we intend to challenge ourselves
to reduce the incidence in our bed-based units
further during 2011/12.
We want more of our patients to benefit from
our good practice in infection prevention.
To do this we will extend the new systems and
processes we developed for our bed-based
units during the past year into our Integrated
Community Teams.

These will capture staff compliance with hand
hygiene and clinical practice in urinary catheter
care in the patient’s home, and will give us a
more reliable basis for taking immediate action
to improve standards if these are found to be
lower than we would expect. We will provide
patients and carers with written information
about hand hygiene to support them in their
own care at home and reduce the risk of
spreading infection and we will encourage
them to ask staff about hand hygiene. We will
continue to educate our staff reinforcing hand
hygiene and infection prevention through
refreshed campaigns and training.

“

The hospital
is always clean
and tidy.

”

Patient

Herts & Essex Hospital

Our aim - a 10% reduction in C diff compared to 2010/11 and zero tolerance for MRSA
Measures we will report to our Board

What is our current position?

Number of cases of C diff infection per 1000
occupied bed days

0.193 (for 2010/11)

Number of cases of MRSA bacteraemia

5 (for 2010/11)

Staff reporting availability of hand washing materials

58%*

Compliance of our staff with hand hygiene

98% in bed-based units (March)
99% in integrated community teams**

Compliance of our staff with essential steps of
urinary catheter continuing care

100% in bed-based units (March)
96% in integrated community teams**

*Source: National Staff Survey 2010, higher score is better (national average 57%)
**Source: Local pilot 2010/11
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Developing clinical effectiveness
PRIORITY 5
To reduce the number and severity of reported avoidable pressure ulcers
developed by patients within our care.

“

The District
Nurse now comes
in to [my father]
daily to dress
his ulcers.

”

Relative

Community Nursing

We want fewer patients to develop avoidable
pressure ulcers whilst in our care, and where
a pressure ulcer does develop that effective
treatment is given to control its severity.
We know our staff have increased their
awareness of pressure ulcers from the 245%
increase in the rate of incident reporting
during 2010/11. We can further improve the
experience for our patients by embedding the
best practice in prevention, assessment and
management of pressure ulcers described in
our new guidelines and sharing the learning
from our investigations of those reported as
serious incidents.

We will do this by having a pressure ulcer
champion in every team that provides care to
patients who are vulnerable to pressure damage
to their skin, launching the evidence-based
pressure ulcer guidelines and by training more
of our staff in pressure ulcer and wound care.
We will support this by improving the data we
collect on reported pressure ulcers so that
staff can monitor their progress at individual
service level.

Our aim - a 50% reduction in avoidable category 3 and 4 pressure ulcers compared to 2010/11
Measures we will report to our Board

What is our current position?

Avoidable pressure ulcers (category 3 and 4) developed
in our care and reported as serious incidents

2 (January - March 2011)

Reported pressure ulcers category 2 and above

587 (for 2010/11)
52 (March)

Percentage of all reported pressure ulcers which
are severe (category 3 and 4)

36% (for 2010/11)
51% (March)

Other measures we will use to track progress
Percentage of pressure ulcers which deteriorate in our care
Percentage of patients assessed for risk of pressure damage on admission to our services
Percentage of patients with pressure damage with a care plan in place
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Monitoring progress throughout
the coming year
We have a dedicated Committee focused on reviewing the safety, quality and effectiveness of our services.
This Committee, known as the Healthcare Governance Committee, will monitor our progress throughout the year.
Quality Priority

Sub-committee of Healthcare
Governance Committee

To further demonstrate changes in services as a
result of patient feedback

Patient Experience

To improve the nutritional status of our patients
whilst they are in our care

Patient Experience

To further reduce the number of reported patient
falls within our bed-based units

Patient Safety

To extend the good practice in reducing infections
from our bed-based units into the community, and
to continue to reduce Clostridium difficile rates in
our bed-based units

Infection Prevention and Control

To reduce the number and severity of reported
avoidable pressure ulcers developed by patients
within our care

Clinical Audit and Clinical Effectiveness

How will we report progress to the Board and the public throughout the year?
Progress in all these five priority areas will be monitored by our Board through our Healthcare Governance
Committee. We have agreed a Board level sponsor for each priority and the same at service level. Where possible
we have selected indicators that can be compared across the Trust and with other similar Trusts. These quality
indicators will be reported through the Integrated Board Report which is published every month for the Trust
Board and on our website for the public and our staff. Our commissioners will also receive reports as part of
our contract with them.
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Other areas of quality improvement

Our five Quality Priorities are not the only areas
of quality improvement in 2011/12. We will
also deliver the quality improvements outlined
in our contract and in our Commissioning for
Quality and Innovation Schemes (CQUINS)
(page 55) and we will contribute to the overall
delivery of the system-wide Quality Innovation
Productivity and Prevention (QIPP) plan which
outlines the opportunity to improve patient
experience through offering care closer to
home and avoiding unnecessary hospital
admissions.

We will build on the transformational work
we introduced in 2010/11 (page 39), with our
clinicians driving it forward in their services
and shaping the quality improvements for
their patients and staff.

We will work with the NHS QIPP safe care
workstream to set improvement goals and
commit to reducing harm to our patients and
we will continue to deliver care in same sex
accommodation in our bed-based units except
where it is in the overall best interest of the
patient or reflects their personal choice.

• We will encourage and support other
innovative developments which support
our vision to provide better care, closer
to home.

• We will use the Productive Series in all of
our services by March 2012.
• We will introduce LEAN thinking into more
of our services releasing more time to care
for more of our patients.

My Needs Now…
By improving the co-ordination of services from diagnosis to the end of life, patients will be better prepared
for the fast changes in their condition and be in full control of decisions about their treatment and care
options. Clinical staff in our neurological and palliative care services are undertaking an innovative project
which will improve the coordination of services across health, local authority and voluntary services for
patients who have fast progressive neurological conditions. The staff will use the award money they won in
the East of England Strategic Health Authority’s Transforming Community Services Leadership Challenge in
March 2011 to support them in delivering this.
The Productive Series supports NHS teams to redesign and streamline the way they manage and work.
This helps achieve significant and lasting improvements - predominately in the extra time that they give to
patients - as well as improving the quality of care delivered whilst reducing costs.
More information can be found at:
www.institute.nhs.uk/quality_and_value/productivity_series/the_productive_series.html
Lean is an improvement approach that was developed by Toyota to improve flow and eliminate waste.
Lean is basically about getting the right things to the right place, at the right time, in the right quantities,
while minimising waste and being flexible and open to change.
More information can be found at:
www.institute.nhs.uk/quality_and_value/lean_thinking/lean_thinking.html
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Review of services

During 2010/11 Hertfordshire Community
NHS Trust provided and/or sub-contracted
41 NHS services which are listed in the table
on the following page.
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust has
reviewed all the data available to them on
the quality of care in 41 of these services.
This information has come from a range of
sources including; local and national audits,
patient surveys, national targets, locally
agreed performance measures and last year’s
CQUIN targets.
During 2010/11 Hertfordshire Community
NHS Trust has developed an Integrated Board
Performance Report which reflects our
integrated approach to patient care, staffing
and service activity. This monthly report
provides progress against a set of 88 key
performance indicators for safety, quality,
performance and workforce across all of our
services. It is presented not only as numerical

data against agreed trajectories, but also as
graphs and commentary to describe changes
in practice in relation to performance. The report
is being refined further in 2011/12 following
review by the Board and discussion with our
clinical teams. Monthly dashboards have been
developed for our bed-based units and are
being introduced in 2011/12 by our Modern
Matrons to provide a clear view of the quality
of services for staff, patients and carers.
The income generated by the NHS services
reviewed in 2010/11 represents 98% of the total
income generated from the provision of NHS
services by Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust
for 2010/11.
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Core Community (East and North Hertfordshire)
Integrated Community Teams
Intermediate Care bed-bases (Community Hospitals)
Minor Injuries Unit
Psychological Therapy Service
Core Community (West Hertfordshire)
Integrated Community Teams
Intermediate Care bed-bases (Community Hospitals)
Adult Long Term Conditions
End of Life and Lymphoedema Services
Speech and Language Therapy Service
Diabetes Community Service
Diabetic Retinopathy Service
Children’s Eye Services
Cardiology Services (including Cardiac Rehabilitation and Heart Failure)
Neurological Services
Neurological bed-bases
Prison Healthcare Services
Respiratory Service
Adults’ Specialist
Sexual Health and Family Planning Services
Dental Services
Skin Health Services (including Leg Ulcer Services)
Bladder and Bowel Care Services
Nutrition and Dietetics Service
Podiatry Service
Acute Therapies Services
Wheelchair Services
Musculoskeletal Services (including Physiotherapy and Occupational Therapy)
Chronic Fatigue and Pain Management Service
Children’s Universal
Health Visiting and School Nursing Services
Child Health Service
Newborn Hearing Screening Service
Step2 Service
Sure Start Children’s Centres
Children’s Specialist
Speech and Language Therapy Service
Physiotherapy Service
Occupational Therapy Service
Community Medical Service
Challenging Behaviour and Psychology Service
Audiology Service
Continuing Care Service
Nascot Lawn Respite Care
Special School Nursing Service
Specialist Diabetes Nursing Service
Young People’s Health Transitional Service
Community Nursing services
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Participation in clinical audit
Clinical audit involves looking at current practice
and modifying it where necessary to improve
the quality of patient care. National confidential
enquiries investigate an area of healthcare and
recommend ways of improving it.
During 2010/11, six national clinical audits and
one national confidential enquiry covered NHS
services that Hertfordshire Community NHS
Trust provides. During that period Hertfordshire
Community NHS Trust participated in 66%
national clinical audits and 100% national
confidential enquiries of the national clinical
audits and national confidential enquiries
which it was eligible to participate in.
The national clinical audits and national
confidential enquiries that Hertfordshire
Community NHS Trust was eligible to
participate in during 2010/11 are listed in
the table below.
The national clinical audits and national
confidential enquiries that Hertfordshire
Community NHS Trust participated in during
2010/11 are also listed in the table below.

The national clinical audits and national
confidential enquiries that Hertfordshire
Community NHS Trust participated in, and for
which data collection was completed during
2010/11, are listed below alongside the
number of cases submitted to each audit or
enquiry as a percentage of the number of
registered cases required by the terms of that
audit or enquiry.
Where our data was contributed as part of
a local pathway or as the provider arm of
the Primary Care Trust, we have not been
able to identify the numbers of cases
submitted for each national audit during
2010/11. As a Community Trust we will be
able to collate our data in 2011/12.
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust is
registered with the National Confidential
Enquiry into Patient Outcome and Death
(NCEPOD) with our local reporter and
ambassador roles in place, and we are
committed to participate in NCEPOD and
other national confidential enquiries which
are clinically appropriate for our services.

National Clinical Audits

Participation

% of cases submitted or reason
for non participation

National Adult Diabetes
Audit

No

The Diabetes Service was undergoing redesign across
the patient pathway.

National Paediatric Diabetes
Audit

Yes

Participated collaboratively with local acute Trust.
Treatment data submitted by West Herts Hospitals Trust.

National Pain
Audit

Yes

Organisational data submitted (phase one).
Not selected for phase two.

National Parkinson’s
Audit

No

Local audit was undertaken against the national standards.

National Falls and Bone Health
Audit

Yes

Organisational data submitted. Treatment data submitted
with Hertfordshire Primary Care Trust.

National Audit of
Psychological Therapies

Yes

53%

National Confidential
Enquiries

Participation

% of cases submitted or reason
for non participation

Child Death Data Collection
(Centre for Maternal
and Child Enquiries)

Yes

Contributed as a member of Hertfordshire Child
Death Overview Panel via the Hertfordshire Safeguarding
Children Board.
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“

You helped
me to keep my promise
[to my husband] that
I would keep him at
home, and that was
very important to
us both.

”

Relative

Palliative Care

“

We couldn’t
fault the care
received…
they really looked
after us.

”

Carer

Stroke Services

The reports of three national clinical audits
were reviewed by Hertfordshire Community
NHS Trust in 2010/11 and Hertfordshire
Community NHS Trust intends to take the
following actions to improve the quality of
healthcare provided.

The reports of 23 local clinical audits were
reviewed by Hertfordshire Community NHS
Trust in 2010/11 and Hertfordshire
Community NHS Trust intends to take the
following actions to improve the quality of
healthcare provided:

National Sentinel Stroke Audit 2010
(published August 2010)

• A personalised nutrition plan for every patient
at risk of malnutrition and the use of red
trays, mats or napkins to ensure that patients
who require additional assistance at meal
times get the help that they need.

• To build on the recommendations arising
from the local audit of stroke services
(against the National Clinical Guidelines for
Stroke 2008) undertaken in 2009/10.
Examples include:
• • strengthening secondary stroke prevention
for patients by training staff in giving advice
• • development of self-management sessions
and an education pack for patients and
their families.
• To continue our work with the Bedfordshire
and Hertfordshire Heart and Stroke Network
to improve local stroke services and with the
Hertfordshire Life After Stroke Group to
implement changes in response to the Care
Quality Commission (CQC) special review of
stroke care which rated Hertfordshire in the
‘least well performing’ range.
National Audit of Continence Care 2009
(published September 2010)
• To support patients in self-management
of their continence, producing written
information on bladder retraining and
fluid intake.

• The introduction of electronic scanners to
produce legible wristbands for safer
identification of our patients in our bed-based
units, reducing the risk of medication errors.
• The use of pressure sensors under mattresses
and seat-cushions and variable height beds
to help prevent avoidable falls.
• Establishing a working group to embed
the use of the Liverpool Care Pathway with
patients to support their choices at the end
of their life.
• The development and delivery of an
educational programme for our staff on
pressure ulcer prevention and management.
• Staff champions for mental capacity and
dementia in every service.
• Strengthening the sharing of information
with GPs when health visitors or school nurses
receive a referral where domestic violence
is involved.

National Audit of Dementia Care in
General Hospitals, interim report 2010
(published December 2010)
• To extend the training in dementia
management undertaken with 86 staff
during 2010/11 by delivering training in
awareness of dementia to the staff in our
bed-based units.
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Participation in clinical research

Use of the CQUIN payment framework

The number of patients receiving NHS services
provided or sub-contracted by Hertfordshire
Community NHS Trust in 2010/11 that were
recruited during that period to participate in
research approved by a research ethics
committee was 44.

A proportion of Hertfordshire Community NHS
Trust’s income in 2010/11 was conditional on
achieving quality improvement and innovation
goals agreed between Hertfordshire
Community NHS Trust and NHS Hertfordshire,
through the Commissioning for Quality and
Innovation payment framework. These are
outlined here, with further details of the
agreed goals for 2010/11 and for the following
12-month period both available electronically
at www.hertschs.nhs.uk. The goals were
agreed as part of the Trust’s contribution to
achieving both local and regional health
priorities and were supplemented by quality
improvements within the contract, included in
page 68 of this account.

Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust was
involved in conducting five clinical research
studies during 2010/11 which were approved
by a research ethics committee, covering the
following areas of specialty: community nurse
prescribing, speech and language therapy,
leg ulcer treatments, post-concussion
syndrome and evaluation of visual acuity
in pre-school children.
As part of our commitment to increasing levels
of participation in clinical research and to making
our contribution to wider health improvement
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust is
developing closer working links with Essex and
Hertfordshire Comprehensive Local Research
Network and is continuing its involvement with
the University of Hertfordshire’s Centre for
Research into Primary and Community Care.
2010/11 CQUIN schemes
Goal

Quality domain

Improving intermediate care services

Clinical Effectiveness

Responsiveness to personal needs of patients
within bed-based units

Patient Experience

End of Life care

Patient Experience

Smoking cessation

Clinical Effectiveness

Dementia care

Clinical Effectiveness and
Patient Experience

Chlamydia screening

Clinical Effectiveness

Stroke care

Clinical Effectiveness
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Care Quality Commission (CQC) registration
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust is required
to register with the Care Quality Commission
and its current registration status is ‘registered
without conditions’.

“

Without you
his final days would
not have been as
comfortable, peaceful
and dignified.

”

Relative

Community Nursing

The Care Quality Commission has not taken
enforcement action against Hertfordshire
Community NHS Trust during 2010/11.
For the period April - November 2010,
Hertfordshire Community Health Services was
the provider arm of NHS Hertfordshire (the
Primary Care Trust), through which it was
registered with the CQC. In April 2010 NHS
Hertfordshire was registered with conditions
for the regulated activity of treatment,
disease, disorder or injury for two outcomes
(Outcome 2, Consent to Care and Treatment
and Outcome 7, Safeguarding People who
use the Service). Hertfordshire Community
Health Services worked hard with NHS
Hertfordshire to complete the actions required
to achieve compliance for these two
outcomes within the time frame set by the
CQC of June 2010. On registration with the
CQC as a new Trust from November 2010,
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust was
registered without conditions.
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust has
participated in special reviews or investigations
by the Care Quality Commission relating to the
following areas during 2010/11:
• Integrated Inspection of Safeguarding
and Looked After Children’s Services in
Hertfordshire (October 2010); a combined
CQC and Ofsted inspection across all
agencies.
• Review of Compliance at Potters Bar
Community Hospital (January 2011);
an unannounced visit as part of the national
assessment of health & social care services
over the Christmas and New Year period
2010/11 focusing on nutritional needs,
staffing and safety and suitability of premises.
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• Review of Support for Families with Disabled
Children (January - February 2011); a special
review to which data was submitted via NHS
Hertfordshire and for which the report is yet
to be published.
The reports produced by the CQC can be found
at: www.cqc.org.uk
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust intends
to take the following action to address the
conclusions or requirements reported by
the CQC:
• To work with our commissioners to ensure
that the capacity of health visiting and
school nursing services are sufficient to
deliver universal and targeted services to
safeguard children and young people, and
to improve the written information which
care leavers have about their health.
• Improve our staffing at Potters Bar Community
Hospital so that we are assured that there are
always sufficient numbers of suitably qualified,
skilled and experienced members of staff on
duty thereby ensuring that people using this
service continue to receive a high standard
of care.
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust has made
the following progress by 31 March 2011 in
taking such action:
• Agreement for a significant increase in
student health visitor placements for the
2011/12 academic year, a positive response
to our bids to develop specialist services for
vulnerable families through the Family Nurse
Partnership model, early indication of
increased productivity from the pilot in
mobile technology and engagement with
commissioners and GPs to develop a
framework for communication with care
leavers about their health.
• Staffing in place to the agreed levels for the
occupied beds in Potters Bar Community
Hospital, using temporary staff as required
and the vacant posts advertised.
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Data quality
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust will
be taking the following actions to improve
data quality:
• Continue to run a range of reports to
explore and assure ourselves of the accuracy,
consistency, timeliness and quality of our data.
Each of our Business Units will be supported
by an assigned data quality analyst.
• Undertake a full review of all our services
that have transferred from other IT systems
onto our electronic system for patient
records (SystmOne).
• Continue to monitor our own performance
on data quality and our progress against our
Data Quality Improvement Plan, and meet
each month with our commissioners about
our data quality and to seek their assurance.
• Introduce a pilot programme of mobile
working in our Health Visiting Service to
enable data input at the point of contact
which will not only improve data quality
but also productivity, releasing more time
to support families.

Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust is involved
in developing benchmarking data for community
trusts through the NHS National Benchmarking
Network working with a group of aspirant
Community Foundation Trusts and the East of
England Quality Observatory. Being able to
demonstrate the effectiveness of our clinical
care by using a recognised set of indicators
and outcomes is, along with other community
providers, an area for development in 2011/12.
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust submitted
records during 2010/11 to the Secondary Uses
service for inclusion in the Hospital Episode
Statistics which are included in the latest
published data. The percentage of records
in the published data which included the
patient’s valid NHS number was 99.9% for
admitted patient care and which included
the patient’s valid General Medical Practice
was 100% for admitted patient care.
During 2010/11 Hertfordshire Community
NHS Trust has continued to improve the
percentage of all patient records which have
the patient’s NHS number recorded in them.

• Explore a single data collection system for
our bed-based units alongside progress with
the Hertfordshire Intermediate Care Strategy.
Patient records containing NHS number
2008/09

2009/10

2010/11

Electronic records

70%

82%

98%

Paper records

86%

87%

88%

Source: local clinical audit, November 2010

Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust Information Governance Assessment Report overall score
for 2010/11 was 39% and was graded red. A plan to improve on this during 2011/12 is in
place and progress will be monitored through our Information Governance Steering Group.
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust was not subject to the Payment by Results clinical coding
audit during 2010/11 by the Audit Commission.
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Our quality improvements in 2010 -2011
How we performed in delivering the
quality priorities we set ourselves
Improving patient experience
PRIORITY 1
To demonstrate changes in our services as a consequence of patient feedback
We wanted more patients to be able to see
and experience services which are delivered in
ways that they have told us best meet their
health needs and wishes.

“

The outcomes we achieved

I never
feel there is
anything stopping
me approaching
or contacting
the service - you
have an open
door policy.

”

Patient

Children’s Speech and
Language Therapy

• 30% of our services introduced changes as
a direct result of patient feedback, with a
number of services introducing more than
one change.
• We increased staff awareness of patient
feedback and how it can be used to make
improvements.

The wider benefits of improving services as
a result of patient feedback were in patients’
confidence in us and the pride staff take in
their work. Of the 3,273 patients across a
range of our services who participated in our
surveys during 2010/11, 97% had confidence
and trust in the staff treating them and 98%
rated the quality of the care they received as
good or better, and in our annual staff survey
70% of our staff (better than the national
average) indicated they felt satisfied with the
quality of work and patient care they were
able to deliver.

• We increased the range of ways through
which we seek feedback from more of
our patients.
• We increased the ways in which we
demonstrate the consequent changes in
our services to our patients and staff.
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Services seeking patient feedback
100%*
90%*
80%*
71%

70%*
60%*

57%

50%*
40%*

36%

40%

36%
29%

30%*
21%

20%*
10%*

8%

8%

8%

0%*
Patient
Experience
Survey

Patient
Satisfaction
Survey

Patient
Stories

◼2010

Patient
Forums

Patient
Involvement

◼2011

Staff awareness of patient feedback
100%

% services rating awareness between 8-10
(on a scale of 1-10)

100%*
90%*

91%

80%*
70%*

67%
60%

60%*

50%

50%*
40%*
30%

30%*
20%*
10%*
0%*
Importance of patient feedback

How patient feedback can be
used in service development

◼2010

Different patient feedback
tools available

◼2011

Annual Report and Accounts 2010-2011

59

You said...
“Noisy bins keep us
awake at night.”

You said...
“We feel uncomfortable
attending clinics
with adults.”

We did...
We ordered bins with
soft closing lids.

We did...
We set up two
sexual health clinics for
the under 25s.
You said...
“The seats are uncomfortable
at Kingsway Clinic.”
We did...
We changed the seats in
the waiting area to ones which are
more comfortable but still
meet our high standards for
preventing infection.

From feedback during an Enter and View visit by Hertfordshire LINk;
HCT has worked with Hertfordshire County Council to review the social worker support to all its
bed-based units to improve discharge arrangements.

Prisoners with learning disabilities raised the lack of services available to meet their needs;
A multi-disciplinary learning disability team was formed within The Mount Prison and the team has won the
national Nursing Standard’s Nursing Award 2011 (Nursing Innovations in the Criminal Justice System)
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How we supported these improvements
• We promoted our Patient Advice & Liaison
Service (PALS) and Patient Experience Team
by the distribution of new posters, leaflets
and business cards and by running
engagement events in national PALS week.
• We developed a logo as the Trust identity
for patient feedback.

• We introduced comments cards in each of
our sites for patients and carers to use and
introduced surveys in more of our services.
• We used our new website, our patient
forums and Hertfordshire LINk to seek
feedback from patients on their care and
on our service developments.
• We launched HCT on the NHS Choices
website.

• We launched our ‘You Said, We Did’
campaign.
• We increased the frequency of our
publication for sharing learning with staff
across the whole organisation.
• We delivered patient experience and
customer care training to 54 of our front
line staff.
Seeking patients’ views and experiences and
using them to improve more of our services
remains important to us - we have therefore
retained this as one of our quality priorities in
2011/12.
Board sponsor
Jessica Linskill,
Director of Quality and Governance
Accountable Committee
Healthcare Governance Committee,
via Patient Experience Sub-committee
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Assuring patient safety
PRIORITY 2
To reduce the number of reported patient falls within our services by 20%
compared to 2009/10.
We wanted fewer patients to suffer physical
harm or lose confidence by falling. We knew
that falls were the most common incidents that
our staff were reporting, and that our rates were
20% higher than other similar organisations.
At the same time we wanted to improve our
reporting of incidents overall as we know this is
a good indicator of an organisation which has
patient safety at its heart.
The outcomes we achieved
• Patients in our bed-based units experienced
15% less falls than in 2009/10 however,
during 2010/11 37% of the 474 patients
who fell experienced more than one fall
during their stay.
• We reported 268 more incidents in 2010/11
compared to 2009/10, of which 32% were
falls experienced by our patients in our bedbased units compared to 51% in 2009/10.
How we supported these improvements
• We set up a task group, led by senior clinicians
from different professional backgrounds, to
develop innovative ways to achieve a reduction
in falls.
• We participated in ‘Take One Step’ in Safety
First Week (November 2010).
• We introduced a falls champion on each
unit to lead the initiative by promoting falls
prevention, identifying learning from
patients’ experience and sharing lessons
with colleagues.
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• We reviewed and strengthened the activities
that we do to identify all patients at risk of
falling and to prevent them from doing so.
• We reviewed our Falls Policy and the
documents used by our staff in managing
falls and reporting them.
• We ensured that our staff have access to
specialist equipment such as mattress sensors
and low beds, and we renegotiated our
contract for specialist low and ultra-low beds
to be available within two to four hours.
• We introduced the use of Safety Crosses
from the Productive Series to increase staff
awareness and engagement at every ward
handover.
• We trained 86 of our staff in dementia
management.
This work is still embedding - a recent audit
showed that only 87% of patients had been
assessed for their risk of falling and only
80% of those at risk had a care plan in
place - we have therefore retained this as
one of our quality priorities in 2011/12 as
we wish to achieve 100%.
Board sponsor
Jessica Linskill,
Director of Quality and Governance
Accountable Committee
Healthcare Governance Committee,
via Patient Safety Sub-committee
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Patient falls in our bed-based units
140.

Number of Incidents

120.
100.
80.
60.
40.
20.
0.
Apr

May

Jun

Jul

Aug

Sep

◼2009 - 2010

Oct

Nov

Dec

Jan

Feb

Mar

◼2010 - 2011

Ratio of patient falls to other patient-related incidents

49%

51% (1002)

68%

2009 - 2010

32% (849)

2010 - 2011

◼Other incidents

◼Patient falls
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Our quality improvements in 2010 -2011

PRIORITY 3
To reduce the incidence of Clostridium difficile infections acquired within our
bed-based units below the ceiling set for us.
The outcomes we achieved

We wanted fewer patients to contract a
C diff infection setting back their recovery or
contributing to ill health and impacting on the
confidence of their families. We wanted to
ensure that there was a year on year reduction
of C diff infections, so we set ourselves an
aspirational ceiling of 19 cases for the year,
five fewer cases than the ceiling set by our
Commissioners.

• We had 18 cases of C diff acquired within
our bed-based units during 2010/11, a
continuation of our year on year improvement.
• We had no cases of C diff in seven of the
15 wards in our bed-based units during
2010/11.
• We had no outbreaks of C diff in any of our
bed-based units during 2010/11.

Number of Clostridium difficile cases

2008/09

2009/10

2010/11

30

19

18

Clostridium difficile 2010 - 2011
24.
22.

Number of Incidents

19.
17.
14.
12.
10.
7.
5.
2.
0.
Apr10 May10 Jun10 Jul10 Aug10 Sep10 Oct10 Nov10 Dec10 Jan11 Feb11 Mar11

◼PCT Ceiling
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◼Quality Priority Ceiling

◼Cases in 2010/11

Annual Report and Accounts 2010-2011

Our quality improvements in 2010 -2011

How we supported these improvements
• We promoted hand hygiene and cleanliness
with staff, patients and visitors, by activities
such as a Clean Your Hands campaign and
monthly audits of hand hygiene and
environmental cleaning.
• We updated our C diff policy and our care
plan for patients with C diff and tested the
knowledge of our staff with a questionnaire.
• We undertook regular audits on standards
of infection prevention and control and
introduced immediate measures where
standards were below our expected
minimum level of 95%.
• We introduced a poster to ensure that
disinfectants were being made up correctly by
both hospital staff and contracted cleaners.
• We improved the timing of samples being
sent for testing to ensure that patients are
identified and treated promptly.
• We enforced strict isolation measures for
each case of C diff infection.

• We investigated every case of C diff
infection and shared the learning across
the Trust.
Although our infection rates for both MRSA
and C diff are low, the prevention and control
of infection is seen as a high priority for
patients and a significant measure of quality
of care. With infection rates coming down
year on year, it is essential that the Trust
continues to make further progress with
specific attention to C diff - we have therefore
retained this as one of our quality priorities
for 2011/12 and we are extending our good
practice into our adult community services.
Board sponsors
Joel Bonnet,
Medical Director and Director of
Infection Prevention and Control
Accountable Committee
Healthcare Governance Committee
via Infection Prevention and
Control Sub-committee

Clostridium difficile April 2010 - March 2011 by ward

Number of Cases

6.
5.
4.
3.
2.
1.
0.
d
n
ry
ll)
in
ll)
e)
h)
h)
n)
d)
se
se
ial
rs)
sbu Roysto olywe bridg Oxfor emor Hitch angto opwe Nort Sout ms En Pete y Hou ll Hou
e
n
t
e
e
S
i
o
L
H Cam ex ( l M
Da
H ( CH ( mer mer Goss ead (S Langle indm
H(
(
ss
ria
t
W
SAC SA r (Oak r (Oak
s
SAC Essex ts & E Victo
mp
a
a
r
n
s B ters B
ts & He Quee
l He
r
r
e
e
e
t
H
Pot
Pot
Hem

◼New

◼Admitted With

Annual Report and Accounts 2010-2011

65

Our quality improvements in 2010 -2011

Developing clinical effectiveness
PRIORITY 4
To reduce the number and severity of reported pressure ulcers developed by
patients within our care
We wanted fewer patients to develop
pressure ulcers when they were within our
care, whether they were being cared for in
our bed-based units or in their own home,
and where a pressure ulcer did develop that
the severity was minimised. In line with the
ambition set out in the high impact action
‘Your Skin Matters’ of eliminating all avoidable
pressure ulcers developing in NHS provided
care, we wanted no patients to develop a
pressure ulcer which was considered avoidable
whilst in our care. In addition, we wanted to
improve staff reporting of pressure ulcers and
improve the systems in place to consider
whether the pressure ulcer was avoidable and
to prevent them worsening whilst in our care.
The outcomes we achieved
• We reported more pressure ulcers during
2010/11 as a result of increased staff
awareness; 587 pressure ulcers (category
two or above) were reported during
2010/11 compared to 170 during 2009/10.
These were all pressure ulcers in patients
seen by our services whether their pressure
ulcers were avoidable or unavoidable, and
whether they were acquired in our care
or elsewhere.
• We confirmed (in a clinical audit in
November 2010) that 72% of the pressure
ulcers in patients in our care at that time
had improved whilst in our care and 16%
had remained unchanged, but also that
12% had deteriorated.
• From looking back at the investigations of
the 10 severe pressure ulcers our staff
reported since these formally became
serious incidents, six were patients who
developed avoidable pressure ulcers whilst
they were in our care. The need to agree a
definition of an unavoidable pressure ulcer
with our commissioners meant that we were
not able to collect this information for all
reported pressure ulcers throughout 2010/11.
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How we supported these improvements
• We set up a task group, led by specialist
nurses in tissue viability (skin care), to review
the activities we do to recognise pressure
damage and report, prevent and manage
pressure ulcers, and to lead the changes
needed to improve clinical practice.
• We developed guidelines with our staff
on pressure ulcer prevention, assessment
and treatment, to provide them with an
evidence-based framework to enable them
to make effective and appropriate decisions.
• We undertook detailed investigations into
the 10 pressure ulcers which were declared
as the Trust’s serious incidents and shared
the learning across the Trust.
• We trained 72 staff in pressure ulcer
prevention and management training.
• We ensured that our staff had access to
specialist pressure relieving equipment.
• Staff in our bed-based units introduced the
use of Safety Crosses from the Productive
Series to increase their awareness and
engagement at every ward handover.
• We worked with our commissioners and the
other organisations in Hertfordshire through
the High Impact Actions workstream to
agree a common approach.
Board sponsor
Joel Bonnet, Medical Director
Accountable Committee
Healthcare Governance Committee via
Clinical Audit and Clinical Effectiveness
Sub-committee
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Pressure ulcers reported in 2010 - 2011
70*
60*
50*
40*
30*
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10*
01*
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◼Category 2

◼Category 3

Category 2

◼Category 4

Category 3

Category 4

April 2010

15

9

2

May 2010

26

9

6

June 2010

13

5

7

July 2010

13

1

0

August 2010

19

2

3

September 2010

12

6

3

October 2010

28

12

5

November 2010

35

15

17

December 2010

36

18

7

January 2011

38

24

7

February 2011

61

24

5

March 2011

25

19

8

336

144

70

Total
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Our quality improvements in 2010 -2011
How we performed against national targets

National Indicators

Full year
target

Performance as at
March 2011

18 Weeks - non-admitted patients - percentage of patients being
treated within 18 weeks for HCT consultant led services.

195%

100%

Genitourinary Medicine (GUM) - percentage of patients offered
an appointment within 48 hours.

100%

100%

GUM - percentage of patients seen within 48 hours.

185%

100%

West Herts Newborn Hearing Screening - percentage of babies
screened within three months of birth.

195%

98%

Retinal screening - percentage of diabetic cohort that have
been offered an annual screen.

100%

100%

Retinal screening - percentage of diabetic cohort that have
been screened.

180%

Minor Injuries Unit - Herts and Essex hospital - patients seen
treated and discharged with four hours.

198%

100%

Percentage of patients still at home 91 days after discharge from
community hospital with rehabilitation/intermediate care.

180%

85%

18 Weeks - non-admitted patients - percentage of patients being
treated within 18 weeks for HCT non consultant led services.

100%

99.6%

Six week wait for diagnostics.

100%

100%

Urgent district nurse response within 24 hours.

Not stated

100%

Non urgent district nurse response within 48 hours.

Not stated

89%

81.9%

Strategic Health Authority Indicators
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Other areas of quality improvement

Patient experience
Introducing PALS and responding to
compliments and complaints
In April 2010 we launched our own Patient
Advice and Liaison Service (PALS) as a core part
of our Patient Experience Team, and responded
to 73% of the 445 enquiries received within
one hour. In 2009/10 our response times to
formal complaints was unacceptable and we
made a steady improvement during 2010/11
in our written responses and increased the
number of complaints resolved within 24 hours.
In 2011/12 we will maintain this improved
responsiveness and continue to listen and learn
from the experiences of our patients and their
carers and we will introduce a formal Patient
Voice programme within our Board.

We continued to use the feedback from patients
to inform our training programmes in 2010/11,
including those on complaint management
and customer care for 54 clinical and front
line staff, and the dedicated sessions on
patient experience in our corporate induction
programme which all new staff attended.

Percentage of complaints responded to within timescale agreed with complainant
100%*
90%*

“

Issues raised
were dealt with in a
professional, timely
manner addressing
all my issues and
documenting how
each will be taken
forward and who
is responsible.
Excellent job and
shows that it can
be done!

”

Complainant

80%*
70%*
60%*
50%*
40%*
30%*
20%*
10%*
0%*
09 09 09 09 09 09 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 11 11 11
Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar
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Summary of the complaints, compliments and PALS enquiries received
Complaints

2009/10

2010/11

173

192

Referrals to Parliamentary Health Service Ombudsman (PHSO)

2

2

Referrals investigated by PHSO
following investigation

0

0

n/a

n/a

Top 4 themes

2009/10

2010/11

Standards of Care

29 (17%)

53 (30%)

Access to Services (including waiting times)

28 (16%)

44 (25%)

Communication

50 (29%)

30 (17%)

Attitude

28 (16%)

24 (13%)

Patient Advice and Liaison Service

2009/10

2010/11

416

445

2009/10

2010/11

428

449

Total number of complaints

“

I feel
we have been let
down by a lack of
communication
and action.

”

Relative

Windmill House

“

I will
never forget how
kind and helpful
you were.

”

Patient

Langton Ward

“

Referrals upheld by PHSO

Total number of enquiries

You were there
from the
very beginning and
have seen all the
heartache we feel for
[our daughter] but
you helped us to
gain the strength to
keep the symptoms
and the illness to
a minimum.

Compliments
Total number of compliments received

”

Parents

Children’s Physiotherapy
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Patient experience
Improving privacy and dignity
We have continued to embed a culture of
respecting the privacy and dignity of our
patients within all of our services. Of the 2,505
patients and carers who gave us feedback in
our surveys about their experience of privacy
and dignity, 90% told us they were given
enough privacy and 98% told us they were
treated with dignity and respect. We know
from our complaints that we could still do
better and we are developing a framework of
behaviours linked to the Trust’s values to use
in our appraisal and recruitment processes to
support us in this.
Some of the improvements we made during
the year are:
• our health visitors adapted the layout
of well-baby clinics with screens to provide
additional privacy for mothers and their
babies

• our school nurses worked with teachers to
improve the privacy of the areas that schools
provide for their immunisation clinics
• we replaced the doors of one of our
community clinics making it easier for
patients with mobility problems
• we put privacy curtains in the bathrooms
and privacy screens on the doors of our
bed-based units.
Patients in our bed-based units continued to
receive care in same sex accommodation and
our Patient Environment Action Team (PEAT)
scores confirmed high standards of privacy
and dignity. Whilst all our units have bathrooms
designated for either males or females we plan
to improve the bathrooms in three of our units
in 2011/12, making them more accessible to
our patients.

“

Our privacy
and dignity
information board
highlights to
our patients that
their privacy and
dignity is very
important to our
staff and will
be considered at
all times.

”

Dignity Champion
Gossoms End

Percentage of patients or carers surveyed reporting positively in 2010/11
Carers in our
Teenage girls in Patients with diabetes Patients in our
well-baby clinics our HPV clinics in our podiatry clinics bed-based units
Given enough privacy
during treatment

80

82

99

98

Treated with dignity
and respect

99

97

99

95

Eliminating Mixed Sex Accommodation, Patient Survey January - March 2011 (86 patients)
Patient Questions

No

Yes

Did not answer

While staying in this hospital did you ever use the same bathroom
or shower area as patients of the opposite sex?

77

4

5

While staying in this hospital did you ever have to share a sleeping
area, for example, a room or a bay with patients of the opposite sex?

85

0

1
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Patient safety
Ensuring infection prevention and control
In addition to our work in reducing cases of
C diff infection in our bed-based units we
continued to reduce the risk of other healthcare
associated infections by screening patients for
MRSA on admission, using non-touch techniques
for inserting catheters and drips, promoting hand
hygiene and cleanliness and regularly checking
our standards through audits and patient
feedback. We introduced the audits into some of
our integrated community teams and will extend
them into all these teams during 2011/12 to help
identify any areas for improvement. Infection
prevention training was delivered in our corporate
induction, in dedicated and bespoke sessions and
through e-learning to over 1,000 staff. Our estates
and facilities team improved the environment in
some of our bed-based units and community
clinics and in our dental decontamination unit.

Our detailed investigations identified
improvements were needed in the care of
patients with chronic wounds or urinary
catheters; we developed a new policy and
delivered training and e-learning in urinary
catheter care, agreed a comprehensive wound
care formulary, and provided leaflets to ensure
consistency of patient and carer education in
hand hygiene. In 2011/12 we will review our
MRSA policy to support zero tolerance and
develop a comprehensive policy on wound
care management and monitor its benefits
through our Patient Safety Sub-committee.

There were five patients in the community
with MRSA bacteraemia linked to HCT services
during 2010/11, with no individual service or
team associated with more than one case.
This exceeded the ceiling of four agreed with
our commissioners and remains the same as
in 2009/10.
Infection prevention in our bed-based units - what our staff and patients told us in 2010/11
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Hand hygiene

Cleanliness

Audit scores

95% or higher

90% or higher

Patient feedback from 514 patients

95% said staff
washed their hands

87% said the unit
was very clean
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Patient safety
Safeguarding vulnerable patients
The CQC/Ofsted inspection undertaken in
October 2010 found the overall effectiveness
of the Children’s Safeguarding Services in
Hertfordshire to be ‘adequate’ and working
with key partners to be ‘good’, and that HCT
demonstrates ‘good’ Board assurance of
safeguarding children. The actions we are
taking to meet the recommendations of the
inspection (page18) are being monitored by
our Safeguarding Sub-committee and reported
to our Board and the Hertfordshire Safeguarding
Children Board. During 2010/11 we extended
safeguarding supervision to 88% of our allied
health professionals who work with children
in addition to 99% of our health visitors and
school nurses and, in response to learning
from a serious case review, we introduced a
new mandatory training session in assessing
risk and vulnerability for our health visitors and
school nurses.

We strengthened our arrangements for
safeguarding adults; 92% of our clinical staff
had basic training in safeguarding vulnerable
adults, 94 staff received more advanced training
and we introduced champions in each service
to promote safeguarding supported by our
Named Nurse for Safeguarding Vulnerable
Adults. We will continue to work with other
agencies and through the Hertfordshire
Safeguarding Adults Board to ensure that
safeguarding vulnerable adults remains a
high priority.
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Patient safety
Reporting and learning from incidents
and safety alerts
As the provider arm of NHS Hertfordshire our
rate of incident reporting with the National
Patient Safety Agency placed us in the middle
50% of reporters in the ‘cluster’ of similar
organisations. We want to improve our level
of incident reporting to move towards the
highest 25%, as we know an organisation
with a high level of incident reporting is one
more able to learn and improve their patient
safety. We reported 2,650 incidents to our
Board during 2010/11 compared to 2,382 in
2009/10. Our pattern of reporting remained
similar to last year. The significant increase
in reported pressure ulcers is as a result of
new requirements to report category 3 and 4
pressure ulcers. Over 60% of incidents reported
related to patient accident (including falls) and
pressure ulcers. We reported 22 serious incidents
during 2010/11 compared to 29 in 2009/10.

Total number of incidents reported
Total number of serious incidents reported

Some of the actions we have taken in response
to the learning from the investigations are:
• the launch of a policy for the management
of outbreaks and communicable diseases
• reinforcing good practice in record keeping
with staff
• the introduction of a training programme in
pressure ulcer prevention and management.
From April 2011 we are introducing a web-based
incident reporting system which will enable
our staff to more readily analyse incident data
by identifying key themes, patterns and risks
and to share and learn lessons across all our
services further reducing harm and improving
the quality of care.

2009/10

2010/11

2382

2650

29

22

Top 10 reported incidents 2010/11
Personal accident - patient
Pressure ulcer related incidents
Medication errors
Admission, discharge or transfer
Treatment
Patient information
Nursing care
Monitoring
Transport
Medical devices and equipment
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Number of patient-related incidents
400*
350*
300*
250*
200*
150*
100*
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During 2010/11 we received 186 alerts through
our Central Alert System Liaison Officer, of
which 131 were applicable and for which all
actions and recommendations were undertaken.
The National Patient Safety Agency now
publishes information on their website about
each Trust’s responses to their alerts.

Types of alerts received
Medical Device Alerts
National Patient Safety Alerts
Department of Health Estates and Facilities Alerts
Medicines and Healthcare Regulatory Agency Drug Alerts
Department of Health Chief Medical Officer Messaging
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Clinical effectiveness
NICE guidance, streamlining clinical
pathways and outcomes and developing
new services
In addition to improvements in clinical
effectiveness arising out of our clinical audit
programme (page 16), our Clinical Audit &
Clinical Effectiveness Sub-committee reviewed
and updated 33 clinical policies and reviewed
all the national guidance released during
2010/11 by the National Institute for Health
and Clinical Excellence (NICE), finding 18 to
be applicable to our services.
We have worked with our partners in
Hertfordshire in redesigning how clinical
services are provided so that patients
experience care which is more effective,
evidence-based, has less duplication, and is
more easily accessed and closer to home.
Examples include:
• the Diabetes Service for adults which was
launched in April 2010 and now operates as
one service whether provided by the GP, our
community services or the hospital
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• our Integrated Community Teams have
brought together our Community (District)
Nurses and the nurses and therapists in our
Intermediate Care Teams to provide more
responsive treatment through a single point
of access
• our Children’s Occupational Therapy Service
which led a Department of Health supported
project to explore the benefits for children
and their families of bringing together the
health and local authority occupational
therapy services
• Bright Stars and Brainboxes, a programme
delivered by our Step2 Service which teaches
children up to the age of 11 and identified
by their school as being vulnerable, techniques
to improve their emotional well-being and
boosts their confidence, often improving their
performance at school. The service won the
national Nursing Standard’s Nursing Awards
2011 (Mental Health: Innovation with
patient involvement in recovery planning).
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During 2010/11 the need to increase
productivity by introducing innovative ways of
working whilst maintaining and improving
quality of care became even more important.
We wanted to support more of our staff to
contribute to improvements (and in the 2010
annual survey 69% reported that they were
able to) and in October 2010 we developed a
dedicated Transformation Team to support our
clinical staff in delivering innovative and
transformational changes in which the patient
remains firmly at the heart.
In September 2010 we started the Productive
Series programme and now have nine
showcase teams/units already realising
tangible benefits for patients, staff and the
Trust. We wanted more of our teams to have
started this improvement journey during the
year but building works, service restructure in
readiness for NHS Trust status and vacancies in
our teams have affected our progress. This is
an area of quality improvement which will
continue to be a priority for 2011/12.
In October 2010 we started a programme of
‘Lean Thinking’ with our staff at Langley
House, one of our bed-based units and we
now have four of our bed-based units using
this approach to energise, enthuse and
engage all staff to deliver improvements for
their patients. This approach - which is
basically about getting the right things to the
right place, at the right time, in the right
quantities, while minimising waste and being
flexible and open to change - will be introduced
into more of our services during 2011/12.

Productive Series in Practice
The multi-disciplinary team at Danesbury
Neurological Centre started using the Productive
Community Hospital and Productive Ward in
September 2010. They used the Well Organised
Working Environment and Knowing How We Are
Doing modules and chose to introduce safety
crosses for daily monitoring of patient falls, pressure
ulcers and staff absence, as these were areas they
wanted to improve for their patients. Staff absence
has reduced by 50% since September and patient
falls have reduced to lower than their monthly
average of five, and there were none during
December 2010 and January 2011. They have found
that the time spent in direct contact with patients
by their qualified and unqualified nursing staff is
much lower than they would like and in 2011/12
they will be looking to increase this through gains
in efficiency from the Productive Series.

Lean Thinking in Practice
Staff in Langley House highlighted frustrating
delays for patients and carers in the information
they were given about their admission, treatment
and discharge at Langley House. Using lean thinking
and involving patients, carers, the local authority
and the neighbouring acute hospital trust in
redesigning the patient’s stay into one which is
driven from the outset by the patient, benefits
have already been experienced. Patients and carers
feel more involved in their care, staff spend more
time with the patients and less time in discharge
planning meetings, staff morale has increased and
the average length of stay for patients in the first
three months was seven days less than the same
three months in 2010.
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Understanding quality in our new organisation

Learning from ourselves and learning
from others
We have worked during 2010/11 to
strengthen the Board’s leadership of service
quality improvement, through the four quality
priorities, the quality improvement plan and
the work of the Healthcare Governance
Committee and its sub-committees. The Board
maintain their focus on quality by members’
visits to services and sites, briefings and “deep
dives” into services and use of the integrated
performance report at each meeting which
brings together the monthly performance on
patient safety, quality, activity and workforce.
During 2010/11 other key actions to support
quality assurance have been:
• Business Unit performance reviews:
A monthly joint executive director review with
each Assistant Director to support progress
and to review service quality alongside other
performance. From December 2010 this has
been replicated at a service level.
• Quality service reviews:
A programme of in-depth reviews of services
either to support quality improvement or to
scrutinise quality issues. During 2010/11
these have been carried out at Windmill
House and the healthcare service delivered
by Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust to
HMP The Mount.

NHS Hertfordshire undertook Quality
Assurance visits to three of our bed-based
units and one of our Community Nursing
teams during 2010/11. Visits to Langley House
and Gossoms End in April 2010 focused on
infection prevention and control and
Eliminating Mixed Sex Accommodation
(EMSA). The improvements made following
the experience of an outbreak of C diff in
2009/10, how EMSA had been established
into every day care and the strong nursing
leadership on the units were commended.
The visit to Ware Community Nursing team in
February 2011 focused on staffing and patient
experience and concluded there were areas of
good practice in their approach to end of life
care, working with GPs and residential homes,
and recommended more of a customer care
focus seeking more patient feedback.
NHS Hertfordshire also undertook several visits
throughout the year to Windmill House focusing
on quality of care, and due to concerns a
performance notice was issued from October
2010 to January 2011. The clinical team,
supported by senior managers and our Quality
& Governance team, worked hard to improve
the standards in record keeping, care planning,
communication, team work and patient
experience during this period and we continue
to seek our own internal assurance of the
improved quality of care now being provided.

• Site Visits:
Members of the Quality & Governance team
also make routine visits to service areas,
reviewing these for patient experience, safety
and service delivery. Some of these are
unannounced visits, and all observations are
compiled and fed back to the service teams.
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Hertfordshire LINk did not undertake any Enter
and View visits to our services during 2010/11.
We have continued to provide updates on the
progress against the recommendations from
the LINk visits to four of our bed-based units
in 2009/10; including our joint working with
social care services to reduce the number of
patients experiencing a delayed discharge and
developing a leaflet for patients containing
useful information about their discharge.

Representatives from Hertfordshire LINk were
members of the Patient Environment Action
Team (PEAT) who assessed our bed-based units
in 2011. Our PEAT scores are available on our
website www.hertschs.nhs.uk
Two of our services had successful Quality
Assurance assessments by external organisations
in March 2011; Offender Health visited our
healthcare services at HMP The Mount and
the National Newborn Screening Programme
reviewed our Newborn Screening Service and
Children’s Audiology Service.
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Improving our staff through continuous
learning and innovation
To ensure an empowered, engaged and
supported workforce capable of delivering the
high quality of healthcare we strive for, during
2010/11 we:

“

You have
a team of very
dedicated, kind
staff who take
pride in their work
and show real
concern for the
patients in
their care.

”

Patient

• continued to develop the skills and
competencies of our staff through our
clinical training programmes and individual
reviews and appraisals
• continued to develop the leadership
capability of our clinical leaders, senior
managers, Executive and Board members
through training and induction programmes,
coaching and action learning sets and access
to the Aspiring Directors and Clinical
Leaders programmes

• built on our engagement and involvement
with staff through our Director site visits and
Chief Executive road shows, network meetings
for geographically dispersed staff, our weekly
Notice Board and monthly Team Brief, regular
meetings with representatives of trade unions
and professional organisations, and our
induction days that introduce staff to our
vision and values and commitment to quality
• supported our staff to maintain their own
health and well-being through initiatives such
as a Pedometer Challenge to encourage
exercise and physical activity and access to
talks on a range of health related topics.

Herts & Essex Hospital

Vision
To be the best community health organisation in England, providing high quality care in patients’ homes
and the community, delivered by skilled and empowered staff.
Key Strategic Objective
To provide services which people choose and recommend for patient safety, clinical effectiveness and
patient experience.
Values
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Care

We put patients at the heart of everything that we do

Respect

We treat people with dignity and respect

Quality

We strive for excellence and effectiveness at all times

Confidence

We do what we say we will do

Improve

We will improve through continuous learning and innovation
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In 2011/12 we will continue to develop our staff
through our Workforce Strategy and to work
collaboratively with other NHS organisations in
the East of England through our links into the
County Workforce Group. For example, we will:

• develop an enhanced communications
programme to support our staff through
the transition to Foundation Trust status,
exploring options such as on-line chat rooms
and videos of staff engagement events

• introduce a more effective appraisal scheme
for our staff linked to our core values

• introduce Change Ambassadors to
help monitor the effectiveness of our
communications and provide feedback
on staff morale

• develop a hub of trained and experienced
coaches, mentors and leaders

• work with the County Workforce Leadership
Group on a Wellbeing Programme to
support staff and manager resilience and
wellbeing during these demanding times.
Our staff feedback
National Staff Survey 2010

HCT

National average
for PCTs

Understanding
the score

Staff appraised

77%

79%

Higher is better

Staff with an agreed development plan as part of
their appraisal

66%

69%

Higher is better

Staff reporting the appraisal or performance review
helped them to improve how they did their work

59%

57%

Higher is better

Staff received job relevant training, learning
and development

80%

79%

Higher is better

Levels of Staff job satisfaction

3.56

3.60

Higher is better
(maximum 5)

Levels of Staff engagement

3.63

3.66

Higher is better
(maximum 5)

Staff that would recommend the Trust as a
place to work

3.44

3.47

Higher is better
(maximum 5)

Staff agreed they are able to do their job to a
standard they are personally pleased with

3.55

3.60

Higher is better
(maximum 5)

Staff agreed they are able to deliver the patient
care they aspire to

70%

72%

Higher is better

Staff agreed there are frequent opportunities
for them to show initiative in their role

69%

68%

Higher is better

Staff reporting errors, near misses or incidents
witnessed in the previous month

93%

96%

Higher is better

Staff witnessing potentially harmful errors,
near misses or incidents in previous month

26%

21%

Lower is better

Staff working extra hours

66%

65%

Lower is better

Annual Report and Accounts 2010-2011

81

Formal responses
from stakeholder
organisations
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Response from NHS Hertfordshire

Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust
Quality Account 2010/2011
I can confirm that NHS Hertfordshire has received the Quality Account
2010/2011, from Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust. The PCT has shared
the Quality Account with our pathfinder GP Commissioning Consortia for
comment as part of developing our assurance statement.
The PCT has undertaken a review of the information provided within the
Quality Account and checked the accuracy of data within the account which
was submitted to us as part of Hertfordshire Community Trusts contractual
obligation. All data provided corresponds with data submitted during the year
as part of the ongoing contract monitoring process. The PCT acknowledges
the improvement in the quality of data provided. This was an area of
weakness identified in the previous Quality Account.
In 2010/11 Hertfordshire Community Trust became an independent NHS
organisation registered with the Care Quality Commission. The PCT
commends the Trust on achieving registration and the work they continue to
do to focus on quality of services. The Quality Account demonstrates an
improved focus on quality and a commitment to improving all aspects of care
for patients.
The Board leadership to the quality agenda has improved and is
demonstrated in their involvement in a variety of quality assurance
processes. This was most positively demonstrated when the PCT raised
concerns about the quality of care at Windmill House. An immediate senior
level response supported by a comprehensive action plan enabled the PCT
to be reassured about improvements that were made as a result. This
demonstrated a more proactive approach to addressing quality issues by
HCT. The PCT would wish to see this demonstrated in a systematic way
across all service areas.
2010/11 saw a steadying of the number of Serious Incidents reported even
with the introduction of mandatory pressure ulcer reporting. Hertfordshire
Community Trust has investigated and learnt from these incidents and has
made significant improvements in the quality and timeliness of reporting.
The Trust have contributed to clinical research programmes but need to work
to improve the contribution they and their patients can make to clinical
research programmes. The PCT looks forward to receiving the outcomes of
the five clinical research trials agreed in 2010/11.
Full compliance with standards for Same Sex Accommodation has been
achieved. Hertfordshire Community Trust has continued to make progress to
reduce the incidence of C diff in their bed based units and has contributed to
the health economy wide process of review of HCAI.
Hertfordshire Community Trust has sustained major improvements in the
Newborn Hearing Screening Service and Diabetic Retinopathy Service.
Both services met all national performance indicators. A comprehensive
programme of clinical audit is in place which will continue to support the
delivery of clinically effective care.
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NHS Hertfordshire endorses the approach taken by Hertfordshire Community
Trust to setting priorities including the use of technology to seek feedback.
With the emergence of GP Commissioning Consortia the Trust need to
demonstrate more effective engagement in the setting of quality priorities in
the future. The PCT is pleased to see indicators that seek to improve the
quality of services across the wide range of provision and in areas that have
been highlighted as concerning nationally. The PCT engaged the GP
consortia in commenting on the Quality Account and feedback indicated a
need to ensure service areas such as District Nursing, Intermediate Care
and Health Visiting are considered in the setting of targets for improvement.
In reporting on achievement in the coming year HCT should ensure that this
is taken into consideration. This would help HCT demonstrate a more
responsiveness approach to quality and the concerns of commissioners.
The PCT would wish to see a clear set of targets and outcomes for each
priority that enables patients, the public and the PCT to understand the
expected achievements HCT wish to see in the next year. In some areas
performance is currently high and therefore the PCT would wish to see
targets that are more stretching and challenging. The PCT welcomes the
commitment to reducing C diff rates and would wish to see a target reduction
greater than 10% to bring HCT in line with target reductions expected of
other providers.
As the health economy works together to meet the QUIP challenges and
work to maintain financial balance it is essential that HCT contribute to this
and ensure that the quality of services is not compromised during this time.
We look forward to working with Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust in the
coming year to ensure it continues to deliver high standards of clinical care,
which reflect the needs and preferences of patients, families and carers, in
the most financially efficient way.

Dr Jane Halpin
Chief Executive
NHS Hertfordshire
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Response from Hertfordshire County Council
Health Scrutiny Committee

Hertfordshire County Council Health Scrutiny Committee (HSC) QA
statement for HCT
Members welcome the opportunity to comment on the Trust’s Quality Account
for 2011/12.
Members have held in-depth discussion with the Trust over a series of meetings.
This has included consideration of progress on the previous year’s priorities
and the implications for the Trust’s ability to maintain and further improve this
year. The Trust has been open in these discussions and responded to the
concerns raised.
At an earlier meeting when members considered progress on the priorities for
2010/11 it was recognised the HCT was a new Trust and that as a Community
Trust there were fewer national ‘benchmarks’ than those available for acute and
mental health trusts. Members noted that the Trust’s priorities were very specific
and that was appropriate at this stage of its development. For the future it was
suggested that more externally facing priorities could be considered.
At a meeting in March 2011 the Trust shared the QA due for discussion by its
Board. Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust had already identified its proposed
five priorities; three of this year’s priorities were being continued into 2011/12.
Members made the following observations:
• Priority 1 - this could be broadened to include general infection control
rather than just specifically Clostridium difficile (this appears as Priority 4
in the Quality Account)
• Priority 3 - could contain a measurement
• Priority 4 - could contain a measurement (this appears as Priority 5
in the Quality Account)
Members expressed concern about stroke services and had suggested that a
quality priority could be established around stroke patients. In recognition of
this concern the Committee has added community based stroke services to its
work programme.
The Trust has engaged with Committee more widely and members would like
to commend the scrutiny earlier in the year considering the provision of health
visiting services. One of the scrutiny’s key conclusions was that Members were
impressed at the commitment and enthusiasm expressed by witnesses during
the scrutiny and site visits. It was acknowledged that this has been a difficult
period for the service but members found little evidence that standards had
been eroded. The increase in health visitors is welcomed as it will enable
teams to function as planned. Furthermore the topic group endorsed the
strategy for moving services forward.
The Trust has agreed to provide a report on the QA priorities later this year.
This will highlight progress and the challenges faced by the Trust when
implementing them.

NIck Hollinghurst Vice Chairman of HSC and Chairman of Monitoring of
Recommendations Topic Group on behalf of the HSC
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Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust would
like to thank all those who have contributed
to this Quality Account during the course
of the year.
How to provide feedback
We hope you find this Quality Account a
useful, easy-to understand document that
gives you meaningful information about
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust and
the services we provide.
If you have any feedback or suggestions on
how we could improve our Quality Account,
please let us know by:
emailing: communications@hchs.nhs.uk
or calling: 01707 388038

88

Annual Report and Accounts 2010-2011

Annual Accounts
Delivering high quality health services
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Caring for you... closer to home
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Statement
Finance of the Chief Executive’s responsibilities
as the Accountable Officer to the Trust
Statement of accounting officer’s responsibilities
The Chief Executive of the NHS has
designated that the Chief Executive should be
the Accountable Officer to the Trust.
The relevant responsibilities of Accountable Officers are set out in the Accountable Officers’
Memorandum issued by the Department of Health. These include ensuring that:
• there are effective management systems in place to safeguard public funds and assets and
assist in the implementation of corporate governance
• value for money is achieved from the resources available to the Trust
• the expenditure and income of the Trust has been applied to the purposes intended by
Parliament and conform to the authorities which govern them
• effective and sound financial management systems are in place, and
• annual statutory accounts are prepared in a format directed by the Secretary of State with
the approval of the Treasury to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs as at the end of
the financial year and the income and expenditure, recognised gains and losses and cash
flows for the year.
To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the responsibilities set out in
my letter of appointment as an Accountable Officer.

Signed:
Derek Smith Interim Chief Executive Officer

Date:
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Statement
Finance of Directors’ responsibilities
in respect of the Accounts
Statement of accounting officer’s responsibilities
The Directors are required under the National
Health Service Act 2006 to prepare accounts for
each financial year.
The Secretary of State, with the approval of the Treasury, directs these Accounts give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Trust and of the income and expenditure, recognised gains
and losses and cash flows for the year. In preparing those Accounts, Directors are required to:
• apply on a consistent basis accounting policies laid down by the Secretary of State with the
approval of the Treasury
• make judgements and estimates which are reasonable and prudent
• state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material
departures disclosed and explained in the Accounts.
The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Trust and to enable them to ensure
that the accounts comply with requirements outlined in the above mentioned direction of the
Secretary of State. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the trust and hence
for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.
The Directors confirm to the best of their knowledge and belief they have complied with the
above requirements in preparing the accounts.
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Signed:
Derek Smith Interim Chief Executive Officer

Date:

Signed:
Gordon Flack Director of Finance and Commerce

Date:
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Statement on internal control 2010 -2011

1. SCOPE OF RESPONSIBILITY
The Board is accountable for internal control. As Accountable Officer, and Chief Executive of
this Board, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal control that supports
the achievement of the organisation’s policies, aims and objectives. I also have responsibility for
safeguarding the public funds and the organisation’s assets for which I am personally
responsible as set out in the Accountable Officer Memorandum.
My responsibilities as Accountable Officer in respect of internal controls are supported by the
Healthcare Governance Committee, the Audit Committee, the Executive Team and established
sub-committees. Controls are also reviewed by the Trust’s internal and external auditors.
The Trust is held to account for its performance by the East of England Strategic Health Authority,
through the SHA’s “Provider Management Regime”, which is modelled on Monitor’s Compliance
Framework for NHS Trusts.
The Trust also works closely with Hertfordshire Primary Care Trust (NHS Hertfordshire), who is
the Trust’s main commissioner. This is principally in respect of performance against the contract
for provision of community services. This was re-entered into on 1 November 2010, when
Hertfordshire Community Health Services became a NHS Trust in its own right.
I am also the nominated officer for the Trust in respect of registration with the Care Quality
Commission (CQC) under the Health & Social Care Act 2006. The Trust was registered in 2010
with no conditions attached to registration.
The Trust has and continues to develop its relationships with GP Practice Based Commissioning
(PBC) Groups, and works in conjunction with all other NHS organisations in Hertfordshire in
respect of “health economy-wide” issues or on specific matters of mutual interest.
Engagement with services users is through a variety of means and an observer from Hertfordshire
Local Involvement Network (LINk) attends meetings of the Trust Board.
The Trust works with Hertfordshire County Council Health and Community Services and Children
Schools and Families (CSF) to support shared or organisation-specific statutory responsibilities or
health care initiatives. The County Council, District and Borough Councils also have an overview
of the Trust’s performance, through the Health Scrutiny Committee, which is hosted by
Hertfordshire County Council.

2. THE PURPOSE OF THE SYSTEM OF INTERNAL CONTROL
The system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level rather than to
eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives; it can therefore only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness. The system of internal control is based
on a process designed to:
• identify and prioritise the risks to the achievement of the organisation’s policies, aims and
objectives
• evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact should they be realised,
and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically.
The system of internal control has been in place in Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust for the
year ended 31 March 2011 and up to the date of approval of the annual report and accounts.
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For the period 1 April to 31 October 2010, a system of internal control was in place as the Trust
was then the “provider arm” of Hertfordshire Primary Care Trust, operating at “arms length” as
Hertfordshire Community Health Services. From 1 November 2010, the Trust has been a statutory
body in its own right, and the system of internal control has been evolving to develop a model
which is more robust for the Trust as a “stand alone” entity which is aiming for Community
Foundation Trust status.

3. CAPACITY TO HANDLE RISK
The Trust has ensured that risk management receives the appropriate leadership.
The Director of Quality & Governance is the executive lead on risk management issues at
Board level whilst the Director of Finance has delegated responsibility for the implementation
of financial risk management. The Director of Quality and Governance is supported by three
Assistant Directors of Quality and Governance. The Company Secretary also reports to the
Director of Quality and Governance and all four of these posts have a significant role in risk
management systems and processes. There are also in post a Head of Risk and Assurance and
a Risk Manager.
The Executive function is also complemented by the work of the Healthcare Governance Committee,
which is a committee of the Board and is chaired by a Non Executive Director. As part of its
remit, this Committee focuses on areas of clinical risk. Sub-Committees covering Patient Safety,
Patient Experience, Infection Control, Safeguarding, Clinical Compliance and Clinical Audit and
Effectiveness all report to this Committee.
In support of clinical governance, the Trust periodically distributes “Lessons in Good Practice” as
an e-bulletin, which derives its material from sources such as complaints, incidents, audits, PALs
feedback, observations from inspections by regulatory bodies and contributions from health
care professional staff.
Areas of financial risk were considered by an executive level Finance Committee and were also
subject to scrutiny on behalf of the Board by the Audit Committee, which until March 2011
fulfilled a dual role as both an Audit and Finance Committee. From April 2011, a separate
Finance, Business and Investment Committee has been established.
The Secretary of State’s Directions 2004 on work to counter fraud and corruption require
NHS bodies to appoint a Local Counter Fraud Specialist (LCFS). The overarching body as at
31 March 2011 was the NHS Counter Fraud and Security Management Service (CFSMS).
The Trust has access to a LCFS through a Service Level Agreement with NHS Hertfordshire.
The LCFS reports directly to the Director of Finance and Commerce and also has direct access
to a Non Executive Director with a specific remit for Counter Fraud and also to the Chair of
the Audit Committee.
The Audit Committee, which is made up exclusively of Non Executive Directors, also had the role
of seeking assurances on behalf of the Board in respect of all areas of risk to the Trust. In this
respect, the Committee operated in accordance with the NHS Audit Committee Handbook.
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The Executive Team has operational responsibility for ensuring effective processes are in place
for identification, management and mitigation of all areas of risk, as well as implementing
controls and providing assurances to the Audit Committee and Board. Four sub-committees
report to the Executive Team. Each is chaired by an Executive Director and cover Health & Safety,
Information Governance, Workforce and Organisational Development and Emergency
Preparedness and Business Continuity.
The Trust provides risk management training to its staff. In 2010/11 the focus of training has
been with Assistant Directors of Operations and Heads of Services, with the training being
geared to their delegated areas of responsibility.
The training has incorporated incident recording, and subsequent management of both the
incident and associated risks, risk identification, assessment, reporting and minimisation
management or where relevant, escalation. This is a rolling programme that is evaluated and
updated on a regular basis.

4. THE RISK AND CONTROL FRAMEWORK
Until 31 October 2010, the Trust was part of NHS Hertfordshire (Primary Care Trust) as the responsible
statutory body and operated at arms length as Hertfordshire Community Health Services.
When Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust was established on 1 November 2010, the Trust
Board adopted Hertfordshire PCT strategies and policies as far as they were applicable to the
Trust, pending such time as they became replaced with Trust specific versions. This included the
adoption of strategies and policies relating to risk. In 2011/12 the Trust will be further refining
its own risk management framework.
The PCT’s Risk Management Policy, also applicable to Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust,
provides details of the Risk Management systems and processes in place during 2010/11.
The Risk Management Policy is supported by policies on Reporting and Investigating Adverse
Incidents, Serious Incidents, Information Security, Information Governance and the Risk
Assessment Procedure. A “Risk and Assurance Process Framework”, approved by the Trust’s
Audit Committee, has also been in place, pending incorporation into a revised Risk
Management Strategy during 2011/12.
An overview of the Trust’s strategic objectives, associated risks and controls is provided by the
“Board Assurance Framework”. This sets out the principal risks facing the achievement of strategic
objectives, along with associated controls, assurances, gaps in control or assurance, actions
required, leadership and timescales for implementation of actions. The risks identified on the
Framework are scored according to an initial risk score and a current risk score. A residual risk
score is also identified, which is the point at which a risk is deemed to be at an acceptable level
and no further mitigation of the risk materialising is either possible or required.
The Assurance Framework is a living document, which has evolved during the year. It is considered
weekly by the Executive Team and presented regularly to the Audit Committee and Trust Board.
As at 31 March 2011, the Board Assurance Framework records a total of 13 strategic risks.
These can broadly be categorised as being (i) Economic and Business Viability Risks (ii) Service Risks
and (iii) Organisational Development Risks. The Risks identified on the framework also take into
account both current and future risks and also risk over which the Trust has no direct control.
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As a relatively new organisation, gaps have been identified in controls and assurance measures
for all strategic risks and the Trust continues to take remedial action to address them.
The Assurance Framework, which provides evidence to inform this Statement on Internal
Control, is also underpinned and informed by individual Business Unit Risk Registers (BURRs) and
a “High Level” Risk Register (HLRR). The latter records all organisational risks scoring 15 or above.
The HLRR is also reviewed regularly by the Executive Team, Audit Committee and Board.
Under the policy on risk management, risk is promoted as being “everyone’s business” and not
just an issue for managers. Staff are therefore encouraged to identify and address risks and if
necessary, to submit them for inclusion on their Business Unit’s Risk Register.
Risks associated with data security come under the remit of an Information Governance
Sub-Committee, chaired by the Director of Finance and Commerce. This is supported by a
range of information governance related policies, as required as part of evidence submission
for compliance with the “NHS Information Governance Toolkit”. The Trust’s Information
Governance Assessment Report overall score for 2010/11 was 39% and was graded red.
A plan to improve on this during 2011/12 is in place and progress will be monitored through
the Information Governance Sub Committee, with assurances sought by the Audit Committee.
In 2010/11 there were no data loss incidents requiring reporting to the Information Commissioner
and the Trust managed information risks through the established risk management processes.
As an employer with staff entitled to membership of the NHS Pension Scheme, control measures
are in place to ensure all employer obligations contained within the Scheme regulations are
complied with. This includes ensuring that deductions from salary, employer’s contributions and
payments in to the Scheme are in accordance with the Scheme rules, and that member Pension
Scheme records are accurately updated in accordance with the timescales detailed in the
Regulations.
Control measures are in place to ensure that all the organisation's obligations under equality,
diversity and human rights legislation are complied with.
The Trust has worked with NHS Hertfordshire through 2010/12 on a strategy with the Carbon
Reduction Trust. Work to disaggregate the baseline C02 emissions and develop a stand alone
strategy will commence during 2011/12. The Trust aims to reduce the total CO2 emissions from
our activities by 20% from the 2008/9 baseline by December 2015.
The Trust is yet to undertake a climate change risk assessment and develop an Adaptation Plan,
to support its emergency preparedness and civil contingency requirements, as based on the UK
Climate Projections 2009 (UKCP09), to ensure that this organisation’s obligations under the
Climate Change Act are met. This will be put in place in 2011/12.
The Trust was registered with the Care Quality Commission under the NHS and Social Care Act
2006 from 1 November 2010. The Trust is fully compliant with CQC Essential Standards of
Quality and Safety and there are no conditions attached to the Trust’s registration.
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5. REVIEW OF EFFECTIVENESS
As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of
internal control. My review is informed in a number of ways. The Head of Internal Audit provides
me with an opinion on the overall arrangements for gaining assurance through the Assurance
Framework and on the controls reviewed as part of Internal Audit’s work. The Head of Internal
Audit has reported that based on the work undertaken in 2010/11, significant assurance can be
given that there is a sound system of internal control, designed to meet the organisation’s
objectives, and that controls are being applied consistently.
Executive managers within the organisation who have responsibility for the development and
maintenance of the system of internal control provide me with assurance. The Assurance Framework
itself provides me with evidence that the effectiveness of controls that manage the risks to the
organisation achieving its principal objectives have been reviewed. My review is also informed by:
• Internal audit reports
• External audit
• Care Quality Commission registration requirements and outcomes
• CQC Reports on (i) a Visit to Potter’s Bar Hospital and (ii) Registration evidence collection for
Gossoms End Rehabilitation Unit.
• The Trust’s monthly Integrated Performance Report
• Minutes of the Trust Board Committees and Sub-Committees
• Reports from the local counter-fraud specialist
• Performance submissions to East of England Strategic Health Authority
• Quality review meetings with NHS Hertfordshire
• Board and Executive site visits and “deep dives” into services
I have been advised on the implications of the result of my review of the effectiveness of the
system of internal control by the Audit Committee, Healthcare Governance Committee (and its
sub-committees) and the Executive Committee.
The following have a role in maintaining and reviewing the effectiveness of the system of
internal control as follows:
The Board
The Board has been actively involved in developing and reviewing the Trust’s risk management
processes including receiving and reviewing minutes and Chair’s observations from the Audit
Committee and Health Care Governance Committee. The Board also reviews the Board
Assurance Framework and Integrated Performance reports.
The Audit Committee
The Audit Committee has been a directing force in relation to reviewing the framework of internal
control particularly with regard to corporate risk, the Assurance Framework, the High Level Risk
Register and counter fraud. Until 31 March 2011, the Audit Committee also acted as a Finance
Committee for the trust and considered financial sustainability and the associated risks to delivery
of a break even financial position.
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The Healthcare Governance Committee
The Healthcare Governance Committee is responsible for the governance and management of
clinical risk, including ensuring compliance with regulatory standards and requirements, adoption
of clinical policies and review of clinical aspects of performance, including incidents and complaints.
The Committee is also supported in its work by six sub-committees, as identified in section 3 above,
“Capacity to Handle Risk”. The Committee also provides assurance to the Board in respect of
patient safety, quality of services and patient experience.
The Information Governance Sub-Committee
The Information Governance Sub-Committee of the Executive Committee is responsible for
the governance and management of information associated risk and compliance with the
“NHS Information Governance Toolkit”.
The Executive Committee
The Executive Committee operationally manages all areas of risk, including the risk and control
framework. The Executive also populates and reviews the Board Assurance Framework and reviews
the High Level Risk Register.
Executive Directors also ensure that key risks have been highlighted and monitored within their
directorates and the necessary action has been taken to address them.
Internal Audit
Internal Audit has reviewed and reported upon control, governance and risk management processes,
based on an audit plan approved by the Audit Committee. Where scope for improvement was
found, recommendations were made and appropriate action plans agreed with management.
As noted, the Board Assurance Framework identifies gaps in control and gaps in assurance in
relation to the Trust’s principal risks and the actions being taken to address them.
The Healthcare Governance Committee, supported by its Compliance Sub-Committee, provides
assurance as to CQC essential standards of quality and safety.
A plan to address weaknesses and ensure continuous improvement of the system is in place.
The Head of Internal Audit’s Opinion for 2010/11 states that based on the work that internal
audit have undertaken and as far as they are aware on the Trust’s system on internal control
they do not consider that there are any issues that need to be identified as significant issues
within the Statement on Internal Control.
My review confirms that Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust has a generally sound system of
internal control that supports the achievement of its policies, aims and objectives.

Signed:
Derek Smith Interim Chief Executive Officer
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Independent auditor’s report to the Board of
Directors of Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust
I have audited the financial statements of
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust for the
year ending 31 March 2011 under the Audit
Commission Act 1998.
The financial statements comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Statement of
Financial Position, the Statement of Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity, the Statement of Cash Flows
and the related notes. These financial statements have been prepared under the accounting
policies set out in the Statement of Accounting Policies. I have also audited the information in
the Remuneration Report that is subject to audit, being:
• the table of salaries and allowances of senior managers (contained within the Annual Report
on page 36 and
• the table of pension benefits of senior managers (contained within the Annual Report on page 37)
The Report is made solely to the Board of Directors of Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust in
accordance with Part II of the Audit Commission Act 1998 and for no other purpose, as set out
in paragraph 45 of the Statement of Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies published
by the Audit Commission in March 2010.
Respective responsibilities of Directors and auditor
As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities, the Directors are
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give
a true and fair view. My responsibility is to audit the accounting statements in accordance with
applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards
required me to comply with the Auditing Practice’s Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors.
Scope of the audit of the financial statements
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amount and disclosures in the financial
statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from
material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of:
whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Trust’s circumstances and have been
consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant accounting
estimates made by the Trust; and the overall presentation of the financial statements. I read
all the information in the Annual Report to identify material inconsistent with the audited
financial statements. If I become aware of any apparent material misstatements or
inconsistencies I consider the implications for my report.
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Opinion on financial statements
In my opinion the financial statements:
• give a true and fair view of the state of Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust’s affairs as at
31 March 2011 and of its income and expenditure for the year then ended and
• have been properly prepared in accordance with the accounting policies directed by the
Secretary of State with the consent of the Treasury as relevant to the National Health Service
in England.
Opinion on other matters
In my opinion:
• the part of the Remuneration Report subject to audit has been properly prepared in accordance
with the accounting policies directed by the Secretary of State with the consent of the Treasury
as relevant to the National Health Service in England and
• the information given in the Annual Report for the financial year for which the financial
statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements.
Matters on which I report by exception
I have nothing to report in respect of the Statement on Internal Control on which I report to
you if, in my opinion, the Statement on Internal Control does not reflect compliance with the
Department of Health’s requirements.

Conclusion on the Trust’s arrangements for securing economy,
efficiency and effectiveness in the use of resources
Trust’s responsibilities
The Trust is responsible for putting in place proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency
and effectiveness in its use of resources, to ensure proper stewardship and governance, and to
review regularly the adequacy and effectiveness of these arrangements.
Auditor’s responsibilities
I am required under Section 5 of the Audit Commission Act 1998 to satisfy myself that the Trust
has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of
resources. The Code of Audit Practice issued by the Audit Commission requires me to report to
you my conclusion relating to proper arrangements, having regard to relevant criteria specified
by the Audit Commission.
I report if significant matters have come to my attention which prevent me from concluding that
the Trust has put in place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness
in its use of resources. I am not required to consider, nor have I considered, whether all aspects of
the Trust’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources
are operating effectively.

100

Annual Report and Accounts 2010-2011

Annual Accounts

Basis of conclusion
I have undertaken my audit in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having regard to
the guidance on the specified criteria, published by the Audit Commission in October 2010,
as to whether the Trust has proper arrangements for:
• securing financial resilience and
• challenging how it secures economy, efficiency and effectiveness.
The Audit commission has determined these two criteria as those necessary for me to consider
under the Code of Audit Practice in satisfying myself whether the Trust put in place proper
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the
year ended 31 March 2011.
I planned my work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice. Based on my risk assessment,
I undertook such work as I considered necessary to form a view on whether, in all significant
respects, the Trust had put in place proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in its use of resources.
Conclusion
On the basis of my work, having regard to the guidance on the specified criteria published by
the Audit Commission in October 2010, I am satisfied that, in all significant respects,
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust put in place proper arrangements to secure economy,
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ending 31 March 2011.
Certificate
I certify that I have completed the audit of the accounts of Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust
in accordance with the requirements of Audit Commission Act 1998 and the Code of Audit
Practice issued by the Audit Commission.

Signed:
Mark Hodgson Engagement Lead

Date:

Audit Commission, 3rd Floor, Eastbrook, Shaftesbury Road, Cambridge CB2 8BF
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Statement of comprehensive income
for the year ended 31 March 2011

Revenue
Revenue from patient care activities
Other operating revenue
Operating expenses

NOTE

2010/11
£000s

3
4
6

128,188
3,400
(131,330)

Operating surplus/(deficit)
Finance costs:
Investment revenue
Other gains and losses
Finance costs

258

Surplus/(deficit) for the financial year
Public dividend capital dividends payable

258
(74)

Retained surplus/(deficit) for the year

184

Other comprehensive income
Impairments and reversals
Gains on revaluations
Receipt of donated/government granted assets
Net gain/(loss) on other reserves (e.g. defined benefit pension scheme)
Net gains/(losses) on available for sale financial assets
Reclassification adjustments:
- Transfers from donated and government grant reserves
- On disposal of available for sale financial assets
Total comprehensive income for the year

0
0
0

0
0
0
(3,637)
0
0
0
(3,453)

The notes on pages 106 to 134 form part of these accounts

Reported NHS financial performance position [Adjusted retained surplus/(deficit)]

102

Retained surplus/(deficit) for the year
IFRIC 12 adjustment
Impairments

184
0
0

Reported NHS financial performance position [Adjusted retained surplus/(deficit)]

184
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Statement of financial position
as at 31 March 2011
NOTE
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Other financial assets
Trade and other receivables

12
13

Total non-current assets
Current assets
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Other financial assets
Other current assets
Cash and cash equivalents

31 March
2010/11
£000s
1,671
315
0
0
1,986

14
15
16

105
16,638
0
0
3,404

Non-current assets held for sale

20,147
0

Total current assets

20,147

Total assets

22,133

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Other liabilities
Borrowings
Other financial liabilities
Provisions

17

19

16,976
0
0
0
27

Net current assets/(liabilities)

3,144

Total assets less current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings
Trade and other payables
Other financial liabilities
Provisions
Other liabilities

5,130

Total assets employed

5,130

Financed by taxpayers' equity:
Public dividend capital
Retained earnings
Revaluation reserve
Donated asset reserve
Government grant reserve
Other reserves

0
184
0
0
0
4,946

Total taxpayers' equity

5,130

0
0
0
0
0

The financial statements on pages 102 to 105 were approved by the Board on 2 June 2011 and signed on its behalf by:

Signed:
Derek Smith Interim Chief Executive Officer

Date:
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Statement of changes in taxpayers’ equity
for the year ended 31 March 2011
Public Retained Revaluation Donated Government
Other
dividend earnings
reserve
asset
grant reserves
reserve
reserve
capital (PDC)
£000s
£000s
£000s
£000s
£000s
£000s
Changes in taxpayers’
equity for 2010-11
Balance at 1 April 2010
Total comprehensive income
- for the year
Retained surplus/(deficit)
- for the year
Transfers between reserves
Impairments and reversals
Net gain on revaluation of
- property, plant, equipment
Net gain on revaluation of
- intangible assets
Net gain on revaluation of
- financial assets
Receipt of donated/
- government granted assets
Net gain/loss on other reserves
- (e.g. defined benefit
- pension scheme)
Movements in other reserves
Reclassification adjustments:
- transfers from donated
- asset/government
- grant reserve
- on disposal of available for
- sale financial assets
Reserves eliminated
- on dissolution
Originating capital for trust
- establishment in year
New PDC received
PDC repaid in year
PDC written off
Other movements in PDC
- in year
Balance at 31 March 2011

104

Total

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

8,583 8,583
0
0

0

184

0

0

0

0

184

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0

184

0

0

0

(3,637) (3,637)

4,946 5,130
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Statement of cash flows
for the year ended 31 March 2011
NOTE
Cash flows from operating activities
Operating surplus/(deficit)
Depreciation and amortisation
Impairments and reversals
Net foreign exchange gains/(losses)
Transfer from donated asset reserve
Transfer from government grant reserve
Interest paid
Dividends paid
(Increase)/decrease in inventories
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables
(Increase)/decrease in other current assets
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables
Increase/(decrease) in other current liabilities
Increase/(decrease) in provisions

2010/11
£000s
258
363
0
0
0
0
0
(74)
2,640
(13,013)
0
13,333
0
27

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities

3,534

Cash flows from investing activities
Interest received
(Payments) for property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of plant, property and equipment
(Payments) for intangible assets
Proceeds from disposal of intangible assets
(Payments) for investments with DH
(Payments) for other investments
Proceeds from disposal of investments with DH
Proceeds from disposal of other financial assets
Revenue rental income

0
0
0
(131)
0
0
0
0
0
0

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from investing activities

(131)

Net cash inflow/(outflow) before financing

3,403

Cash flows from financing activities
Public dividend capital received
Public dividend capital repaid
Loans received from the DH
Other loans received
Loans repaid to the DH
Other loans repaid
Other capital receipts
Capital element of finance leases and PFI

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from financing

0

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash (and) cash equivalents (and bank overdrafts) at the beginning of the financial year
Effect of exchange rate changes on the balance of cash held in foreign currencies

3,403
1
0

Cash (and) cash equivalents (and bank overdrafts) at the end of the financial year

3,404

16
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Notes to the Accounts

1. Accounting policies
The Secretary of State for Health has directed that the financial statements of NHS trusts shall meet the accounting
requirements of the NHS Trusts Manual for Accounts, which shall be agreed with HM Treasury. Consequently, the
following financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the 2010/11 NHS Trusts Manual for Accounts
issued by the Department of Health. The accounting policies contained in that manual follow International Financial
Reporting Standards to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to the NHS, as determined by HM
Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory Board. Where the NHS Trusts Manual for Accounts
permits a choice of accounting policy, the accounting policy which is judged to be most appropriate to the particular
circumstances of the Trust for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been selected. The particular policies
adopted by the Trust are described below. They have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered
material in relation to the accounts.

1.1 Accounting convention
These Accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the revaluation of
property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, inventories and certain financial assets and financial liabilities.

1.2 Accounting Standards issued but not adopted
IFRIC 19 "Extinguishing financial liabilities with equity instruments" is effective from 1 July 2010. Neither the
Treasury FReM nor the Department of Health's Manual for Accounts require this standard to be applied in 2010/11.
The application of the IFRIC would not have a material impact on the Trust Accounts in 2010/11 were it applied in
that year.

1.3 Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust was formed on 1 November 2010 following the divestment of all provider
services by NHS Hertfordshire (Primary Care Trust). Following Department of Health guidance, these accounts
have been prepared using the principles of merger accounting. The accounts include seven months’ expenditure
that was previously part of the PCT and five months’ expenditure from the new community Trust. The PCT has
removed all detailed expenditure on these services from its accounts and shown the total spent as part of its
Expenditure on Healthcare.
The value of services transferred to the Trust from the PCT is £131.3m. These services are funded mainly by the PCT.
The assets and liabilities associated with these services have also been transferred from the PCT to the Trust and are
valued at £8.5m on 1 April 2010.
The Trust was not issued with any originating Public Dividend Capital in order to purchase assets and liabilities
from the PCT. Guidance issued by the Department of Health on 6 April, "2010/11 FMA forms: reporting the
impact of transfers of functions within the public sector", assets or liabilities transferring as an integral part of
the transfer of functions will be accounted for by means of reserve movements. Accordingly, the PCT has
transferred an opening balance of £8.5m to the Trust's "Other Reserves".
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The guidance "2010/11 FMA forms: reporting the impact of transfers of functions within the public sector"
further requires individual bodies to decide whether or not a full re-statement of 2009/10 is achievable within
the submission deadlines. Whilst IAS1 requires the inclusion of comparative information, the Trust and PCT
consider that it is not practicable to re-state 2009/10 balances for these accounts, as the PCT did not record data
in 2009/10 in a way that allows reclassification and it is impracticable to recreate the information (IAS1:43).
Although the PCT does have records of spend on its provider services in 2009/10, this does not include management
or corporate costs, capital charges etc and therefore a high degree of estimation would be required to generate
these figures. To include any comparative figures without these overheads would prove misleading to any users
of these accounts, as it would not be possible to allow for any assessment of trends in the financial information.
1.4 Acquisitions and discontinued operations
Activities are considered to be ‘acquired’ only if they are taken on from outside the public sector. Activities are
considered to be ‘discontinued’ only if they cease entirely. They are not considered to be ‘discontinued’ if they
transfer from one public sector body to another.
1.5 Pooled budgets
The Trust has no pooled budget arrangements.
1.6 Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty
In the application of the Trust’s accounting policies, management is required to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered
to be relevant. Actual results may differ from those estimates and the estimates and underlying assumptions are
continually reviewed. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.
1.6.1 Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see below) that management
has made in the process of applying the Trust’s accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on
the amounts recognised in the financial statements.
The Trust has considered its position with regard to financial, operating and other associated risks and determined
it is a going concern. These accounts have been prepared on this basis. The risks and rewards of ownership of any
buildings leased for use by the Trust are retained by the PCT and rental payments charged to the Trust are charged
to the period to which they relate; see note 1.10.
Prior to 1 November the Trust was responsible for managing the PCT's estates function. Some of these buildings
are used by other organisations for patient care services. These are not held as investment properties and revenue
from rental of this space is credited to the period to which it relates.
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1.6.2 Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty
at the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.
Provision for impairment of receivables - note 1.7
Employee benefits for untaken annual leave - note 1.8
Plant, Property & Equipment - note 1.10

1.7 Revenue
Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when, and to the extent that, performance occurs, and is
measured at the fair value of the consideration receivable. The main source of revenue for the Trust is from
commissioners for healthcare services. Revenue relating to patient care that is part-completed at the year end
are apportioned across the financial years on the basis of length of stay at the end of the reporting period
compared to expected total length of stay.
Where income is received for a specific activity that is to be delivered in the following year, that income is deferred.
The Trust receives income under the NHS Injury Cost Recovery Scheme, designed to reclaim the cost of treating
injured individuals to whom personal injury compensation has subsequently been paid e.g. by an insurer. The Trust
only recognises income when it receives notification from the Department of Work and Pension's Compensation
Recovery Unit that a compensation claim has been successful and is about to be paid to the Trust. The income is
measured at the agreed tariff for the treatments provided to the injured individual. The Trust has not included a
provision for unsuccessful compensation claims and doubtful debts, as it does not recognise income ahead of
being paid.
The Trust provides against an impairment of receivables and this is shown in note 15.3. The impairment is calculated
on all non NHS receivables and shown at current value.

1.8 Employee Benefits
Short-term employee benefits
Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the period in which the service is received
from employees, except for bonuses earned but not yet taken which is not accrued for at the year end, on the
grounds of immateriality.
The Trust leave year runs from 1 April to 31 March. The Trust has a policy of not allowing any staff to carry
forward untaken leave into the new financial year. However, the cost of annual leave for staff on long-term sick
or maternity leave has been estimated, using an average cost per member of staff, where it is estimated that the
full annual leave entitlement has not been taken before 31 March.

108

Annual Report and Accounts 2010-2011

Annual Accounts

Retirement benefit costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme. The scheme is an
unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, General Practices and other bodies, allowed under
the direction of the Secretary of State, in England and Wales. The scheme is not designed to be run in a way that
would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, the
scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the NHS body of participating in
the scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period.
For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the
scheme. The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged to expenditure at the time the Trust
commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the method of payment.

1.9 Other expenses
Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or services have been received.
They are measured at the fair value of the consideration payable.

1.10 Property, plant and equipment
Recognition
Property, plant and equipment is capitalised if:
• it is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes
• it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential will be supplied to, the Trust
• it is expected to be used for more than one financial year
• the cost of the item can be measured reliably and
• the item has cost of at least £5,000 or
• collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have a cost of more than £250,
where the assets are functionally interdependent, they had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated
to have simultaneous disposal dates and are under single managerial control or
• items form part of the initial equipping and setting-up cost of a new building, ward or unit, irrespective of their
individual or collective cost.
Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with significantly different asset
lives, the components are treated as separate assets and depreciated over their own useful economic lives.
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Valuation
All property, plant and equipment are measured initially at cost, representing the cost directly attributable to
acquiring or constructing the asset and bringing it to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by management. All assets are measured subsequently at fair value.
Land and buildings used by the Trust are owned or leased by NHS Hertfordshire and the Trust pays rent and
service charges for the use of these buildings. They are treated as service charges in the Trust's accounts.
Until 31 March 2008 the NHS policy was that fixtures and equipment were carried at replacement cost, as assessed
by indexation and depreciation of historic cost. From 1 April 2008 indexation has ceased. The carrying value of
existing assets at that date will be written off over their remaining useful lives and new fixtures and equipment are
carried at depreciated historic cost as this is not considered to be materially different from fair value.
Subsequent expenditure
Where subsequent expenditure enhances an asset beyond its original specification, the directly attributable cost
is capitalised. Where subsequent expenditure restores the asset to its original specification, the expenditure is
capitalised and any existing carrying value of the item replaced is written-out and charged to operating expenses.

1.11 Intangible assets
Recognition
Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without physical substance, which are capable of sale separately from
the rest of the Trust’s business or which arise from contractual or other legal rights. They are recognised only when
it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be provided to, the Trust; where the
cost of the asset can be measured reliably, and where the cost is at least £5000.
Intangible assets acquired separately are initially recognised at fair value. Software that is integral to the
operating of hardware, for example an operating system, is capitalised as part of the relevant item of property,
plant and equipment. Software that is not integral to the operation of hardware, for example application
software, is capitalised as an intangible asset. Expenditure on research is not capitalised: it is recognised as an
operating expense in the period in which it is incurred. Internally-generated assets are recognised if, and only if,
all of the following have been demonstrated:
• the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use
• the intention to complete the intangible asset and use it
• the ability to sell or use the intangible asset
• how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits or service potential
• the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the intangible asset and
sell or use it
• the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development.
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Measurement
The amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible assets is the sum of the expenditure incurred
from the date when the criteria above are initially met. Where no internally-generated intangible asset can be
recognised, the expenditure is recognised in the period in which it is incurred.
Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at fair value by reference to an active market, or, where
no active market exists, at amortised replacement cost (modern equivalent assets basis), indexed for relevant
price increases, as a proxy for fair value.

1.12 Depreciation, amortisation and impairments
Depreciation is charged to write off the costs or valuation of property, plant and equipment, less any residual
value, over their estimated useful lives, in a manner that reflects the consumption of economic benefits or service
potential of the assets. The estimated useful life of an asset is the period over which the Trust expects to obtain
economic benefits or service potential from the asset. This is specific to the Trust and may be shorter than the
physical life of the asset itself. Estimated useful lives and residual values are reviewed each year end, with the
effect of any changes recognised on a prospective basis. Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over
their estimated useful lives.
At each reporting period end, the Trust checks whether there is any indication that any of its tangible or intangible
non-current assets have suffered an impairment loss. If there is indication of an impairment loss, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated to determine whether there has been a loss and, if so, its amount. Intangible
assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment annually.

1.13 Donated assets
The Trust has not had any assets donated during 2010/11.

1.14 Non-current assets held for sale
The Trust does not hold any non-current assets for sale.

1.15 Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred
to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases
The Trust has reviewed its leases and has classified the lease for franking machines as an operating lease.
The Trust as lessee
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease
incentives are recognised initially as a liability and subsequently as a reduction of rentals on a straight-line basis
over the lease term.
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1.16 Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value using the first-in first-out cost formula. This is
considered to be a reasonable approximation to fair value due to the high turnover of stocks.

1.17 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more
than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are investments that mature in three months or less from the date of acquisition
and that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value.
In the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable
on demand and that form an integral part of the Trust’s cash management.

1.18 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Trust has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past
event. It is probable that the Trust will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made
of the amount of the obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure
required to settle the obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and
uncertainties.
The Trust has recognised provisions for two legal claims arising during the year.

1.19 Clinical negligence costs
The NHS Litigation Authority (NHSLA) operates a risk pooling scheme under which the Trust pays an annual
contribution to the NHSLA which in return settles all clinical negligence claims. The contribution is charged to
expenditure. Although the NHSLA is administratively responsible for all clinical negligence cases the legal liability
remains with the Trust.
NHS Hertfordshire has accounted for the premium as a combined entity for 2010/11 as the NHSLA have been
unable to separate contributions and liabilities mid-year.

1.20 Non-clinical risk pooling
The Trust participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both are risk
pooling schemes under which the Trust pays an annual contribution to the NHS Litigation Authority and, in return,
receives assistance with the costs of claims arising. The annual membership contributions, and any excesses
payable in respect of particular claims are charged to operating expenses as and when they become due.
The contribution for 2010/11 was made by NHS Hertfordshire and the NHSLA has been unable to separate this
between the Trust and NHS Hertfordshire.
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1.21 Contingencies
The Trust has reviewed past events to determine if any possible obligations or assets may arise. No contingent
assets or liabilities have been identified.

1.22 Financial assets
Financial assets are recognised when the Trust becomes party to the financial instrument contract or, in the case
of trade receivables, when the goods or services have been delivered. Financial assets are derecognised when the
contractual rights have expired or the asset has been transferred.
Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value.
Financial assets are classified into the following categories: financial assets at fair value through profit and loss;
held to maturity investments; available for sale financial assets, and loans and receivables. The classification
depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition.
Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss
Embedded derivatives that have different risks and characteristics to their host contracts, and contracts with
embedded derivatives whose separate value cannot be ascertained, are treated as financial assets at fair value
through profit and loss. They are held at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss recognised in calculating the
Trust's surplus or deficit for the year. The net gain or loss incorporates any interest earned on the financial asset.
Held-to-maturity investments
The Trust has no held to maturity investments.
Available-for-sale financial assets
The Trust has no available for sale financial assets.
Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments which are not
quoted in an active market. After initial recognition, they are measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less any impairment. Interest is recognised using the effective interest method.
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected
life of the financial asset, to the initial fair value of the financial asset.
Current receivables are held at book value and are expected to be recovered within one year.
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1.23 Financial liabilities
The Trust has no contracts containing embedded derivatives.

1.24 Value Added Tax
Most of the activities of the Trust are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply and
input tax on purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or
included in the capitalised purchase cost of fixed assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable,
the amounts are stated net of VAT.

1.25 Foreign currencies
The Trust's functional currency and presentational currency is sterling. The Trust has had no transactions in a
foreign currency.

1.26 Third party assets
Assets belonging to third parties (such as money held on behalf of patients) are not recognised in the accounts
since the Trust has no beneficial interest in them. Details of third party assets are given in Note 41 to the
accounts.

1.27 Public Dividend Capital (PDC) and PDC dividend
Public dividend capital represents taxpayers’ equity in the NHS Trust. At any time the Secretary of State can issue
new PDC to, and require repayments of PDC from, the Trust. PDC is recorded at the value received. As PDC is
issued under legislation rather than under contract, it is not treated as an equity financial instrument.
The Trust does not have any PDC as assets and liabilities that were an integral part of the functions of NHS
Hertfordshire's provider services function transferred to the Trust as a reserve and are shown as Other Reserves
in the accounts.
An annual charge, reflecting the cost of capital utilised by the Trust, is payable to the Department of Health as
public dividend capital dividend. The charge is calculated at the real rate set by HM Treasury (currently 3.5%) on
the average carrying amount of all assets less liabilities, except for donated assets and cash balances with the
Government Banking Service (GBS). The average carrying amount of assets is calculated as a simple average of
opening and closing relevant net assets. Prior to 2009/10 the PDC dividend was determined using forecast
average relevant net assets and a note to the accounts discloses the rate that the dividend represents as a
percentage of the actual average carrying amount of assets less liabilities in the year. From 1 April 2009, the
dividend payable is based on the actual average relevant net assets for the year instead of forecast amounts.
Although the Trust does not have any PDC, it made a public dividend capital dividend payment to the
Department of Health in March 2011 based on its average relevant net assets.
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1.28 Losses and special payments
Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for
the health service or passed legislation. By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are
therefore subject to special control procedures compared with the generality of payments. They are divided into
different categories, which govern the way that individual cases are handled.
Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure on an accruals basis,
including losses which would have been made good through insurance cover had NHS Trusts not been bearing
their own risks (with insurance premiums then being included as normal revenue expenditure).

1.29 Subsidiaries
For 2010/11, in accordance with the directed accounting policy from the Secretary of State, the Trust does not
consolidate the NHS charitable funds for which it is the corporate trustee.
The Trust does not have any subsidiaries, apart from its charitable funds.

1.30 Associates, joint ventures and joint operations
The Trust does not have any associates, joint ventures or joint operations.

1.31 Research and development
The Trust has recognised income and expenditure as research and development costs. When the provider arm of
the PCT it supported the University of Hertfordshire to make applications for research funding to the National
Institute of Health Research (NIHR). This transferred to the Trust as part of the overall transfer of assets and
liabilities. Funding is provided by the Department of Health directly to the Trust and the Trust passes this on to
the University.

2. Operating segments
The Trust engages in its activities as a single operating segment ie the provision of healthcare. The main source of
revenue for the Trust is from commissioners of healthcare services which are principally Primary Care Trusts (PCTs).
The Department of Health has deemed that as PCTs are under common control they are classed as a single
customer for the purposes of segmental analysis. No other customer generates in excess of 10% of total revenue.
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3. Revenue from patient care activities

2010/11
£000s

Strategic health authorities
NHS trusts
Primary care trusts
Foundation trusts
Local authorities
Department of Health
NHS other
Non-NHS:
Private patients
Overseas patients (non-reciprocal)
Injury costs recovery
Other

38
5,793
116,781
427
2,658
1
2,049
0
0
57
384
128,188

4. Other operating revenue
Patient transport services
Education, training and research
Charitable and other contributions to expenditure
Transfers from donated asset reserve
Transfers from government grant reserve
Non-patient care services to other bodies
Income generation
Rental revenue from finance leases
Rental revenue from operating leases
Other revenue

2010-11
£000s
0
431
0
0
0
2,523
134
0
0
312
3,400

5. Revenue
Revenue is almost totally from the supply of services.
Revenue from the sale of goods is immaterial.
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6. Operating expenses
Services from other NHS trusts
Services from PCTs
Services from other NHS bodies
Services from foundation trusts
Purchase of healthcare from non NHS bodies
Trust chair and non executive directors
Employee benefits
Supplies and services - clinical
Supplies and services - general
Consultancy services
Establishment
Transport
Premises
Provision for impairment of receivables
Inventories write down
Depreciation
Amortisation
Impairments and reversals of property, plant and equipment
Impairments and reversals of intangible assets
Impairments and reversals of financial assets
Impairments and reversals of non current assets held for sale
Audit fees
Other auditor's remuneration
Clinical negligence
Research and development
Education and Training
Other

2010/11
£000s
0
20
0
0
272
50
89,950
11,487
2,845
91
9,518
37
12,787
198
2,745
351
12
0
0
0
0
119
0
0
200
274
374
131,330
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7. Operating leases as lessee
The Trust has operating leases in place for each of its franking machines, which last for six years. At the end of this
period the assets will be returned to the lessor and the Trust will tender for a new supplier. Under the terms of the
lease, it is cancellable only with the permission of the lessor.
Payments recognised as an expense

2010/11
£000s

Minimum lease payment
Contingent rents
Sub-lease payments

67
0
0
67

Total future minimum lease payments
Buildings
£000s

Land
£000s

Other
£000s

2010/11
Total
£000s

Payable:
Not later than one year
Between one and five years
After five years

0
0
0

0
0
0

74
218
0

74
218
0

Total

0

0

292

292

Total
£000s

Permanently
employed
£000s

Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Other pension costs
Other post-employment benefits
Other employment benefits
Termination benefits

76,283
4,625
9,180
0
0
0
0

71,953
4,625
9,180
0
0
0
0

4,330
0
0
0
0
0
0

Employee benefits expense

90,088

85,758

4,330

Of the total above:
Charged to capital
Employee benefits charged to revenue

138
89,950

8. Employee costs and numbers
8.1 Employee costs

2010/11
Other
£000s

90,088
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8.2 Average number of people employed
Total

2010/11
Other

Number

Permanently
employed
Number

Medical and dental
Ambulance staff
Administration and estates
Healthcare assistants and other support staff
Nursing, midwifery and health visiting staff
Nursing, midwifery and health visiting learners
Scientific, therapeutic and technical staff
Social care staff
Other

81
0
629
719
1,200
1
669
0
12

42
0
576
656
1,109
0
615
0
11

39
0
53
63
91
1
54
0
1

Total

3,311

3,009

302

Number

Of the total above:
Number of whole time equivalent staff
engaged on capital projects

4

8.3 Management Costs

2010/11
£000s

Management costs
Income

8,372
131,588
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9. Pension costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme. Details of the benefits
payable under these provisions can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions.
The scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies,
allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State, in England and Wales. The scheme is not designed to be
run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities.
Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the NHS Body of
participating in the scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting
period.
The scheme is subject to a full actuarial valuation every four years (until 2004, every five years) and an accounting
valuation every year. An outline of these follows:
a) Full actuarial (funding) valuation
The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the scheme
(taking into account its recent demographic experience), and to recommend the contribution rates to be paid by
employers and scheme members. The last such valuation, which determined current contribution rates was
undertaken as at 31 March 2004 and covered the period from 1 April 1999 to that date. The conclusion from the
2004 valuation was that the scheme had accumulated a notional deficit of £3.3 billion against the notional
assets as at 31 March 2004.
In order to defray the costs of benefits, employers pay contributions at 14% of pensionable pay and most employees
had up to April 2008 paid 6%, with manual staff paying 5%.
Following the full actuarial review by the Government Actuary undertaken as at 31 March 2004, and after
consideration of changes to the NHS Pension Scheme taking effect from 1 April 2008, his Valuation report
recommended that employer contributions could continue at the existing rate of 14% of pensionable pay, from
1 April 2008, following the introduction of employee contributions on a tiered scale from 5% up to 8.5% of their
pensionable pay depending on total earnings.
On advice from the scheme actuary, scheme contributions may be varied from time to time to reflect changes in
the scheme’s liabilities.
b) Accounting valuation
A valuation of the scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary as at the end of the reporting
period by updating the results of the full actuarial valuation.
Between the full actuarial valuations at a two-year midpoint, a full and detailed member data-set is provided to
the scheme actuary. At this point the assumptions regarding the composition of the scheme membership are
updated to allow the scheme liability to be valued.
The valuation of the scheme liability as at 31 March 2011, is based on detailed membership data as at 31 March
2008 (the latest midpoint) updated to 31 March 2011 with summary global member and accounting data.
The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the scheme actuary report, which forms part
of the annual NHS Pension Scheme (England and Wales) Resource Account, published annually. These accounts
can be viewed on the NHS Pensions website. Copies can also be obtained from The Stationery Office.
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c) Scheme provision
The NHS Pension Scheme provided defined benefits, which are summarised below. This list is an illustrative guide
only, and is not intended to detail all the benefits provided by the Scheme or the specific conditions that must be
met before these benefits can be obtained:
The Scheme is a “final salary” scheme. Annual pensions are normally based on 1/80th for the 1995 section and
of the best of the last three years pensionable pay for each year of service, and 1/60th for the 2008 section of
reckonable pay per year of membership. Members who are practitioners as defined by the Scheme Regulations
have their annual pensions based upon total pensionable earnings over the relevant pensionable service.
With effect from 1 April 2008 members can choose to give up some of their annual pension for an additional
tax free lump sum, up to a maximum amount permitted under HMRC rules. This new provision is known as
“pension commutation”.
Annual increases are applied to pension payments at rates defined by the Pensions (Increase) Act 1971, and are
based on changes in retail prices in the twelve months ending 30 September in the previous calendar year.
Early payment of a pension, with enhancement, is available to members of the scheme who are permanently
incapable of fulfilling their duties effectively through illness or infirmity. A death gratuity of twice final year’s
pensionable pay for death in service, and five times their annual pension for death after retirement is payable.
For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the
scheme. The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged to the statement of comprehensive
income at the time the Trust commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the method of payment.
Members can purchase additional service in the NHS Scheme and contribute to money purchase AVC’s run by the
Scheme’s approved providers or by other Free Standing Additional Voluntary Contributions (FSAVC) providers.

Annual Report and Accounts 2010-2011

121

Annual Accounts

10. Retirements due to ill-health
NHS Business Services Authority - Pensions Division is providing costs of any retirements agreed on the grounds
of ill health directly to the Department of Health rather than in previous years to individual trusts. The cost of any
such ill-health retirements will be borne by the NHS Business Services Authority - Pensions Division.

11. Better Payment Practice Code

11.1 Better Payment Practice Code - measure of compliance
Total Non-NHS trade invoices paid in the year
Total Non NHS trade invoices paid within target
Percentage of Non-NHS trade invoices paid within target
Total NHS trade invoices paid in the year
Total NHS trade invoices paid within target
Percentage of NHS trade invoices paid within target

Number

2010/11
£000s

19,066
17,279

17,581
15,524

91%

88%

930
820

7,006
5,916

88%

84%

The Better Payment Practice Code requires the Trust to aim to pay all undisputed invoices by the due date or
within 30 days of receipt of goods or a valid invoice, whichever is later.

11.2 The Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998
The Trust did not receive any claims for payment under this legislation.
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12. Property, plant and equipment

2010/11
Total

Plant and
machinery
£000s

information
technology
£000s

Furniture &
fittings
£000s

Cost or valuation at 1 April 2010
Additions purchased
Additions donated
Additions government granted
Reclassifications
Reclassified as held for sale
Disposals other than by sale
Revaluation/indexation gains
Impairments
Reversal of impairments

1,229
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

842
808
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

500
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

2,571
808
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

At 31 March 2011

1,229

1,650

500

3,379

Depreciation at 1 April 2010
Reclassifications
Reclassified as held for sale
Disposals other than by sale
Revaluation/indexation gains
Impairments
Reversal of impairments
Charged during the year

656
0
0
0
0
0
0
140

361
0
0
0
0
0
0
180

340
0
0
0
0
0
0
31

1,357
0
0
0
0
0
0
351

Depreciation at 31 March 2011

796

541

371

1,708

Net book value
Purchased
Donated
Government granted

433
0
0

1,109
0
0

129
0
0

1,671
0
0

Total at 31 March 2011

433

1,109

129

1,671

Net book value
Purchased
Donated
Government granted

433
0
0

1,109
0
0

129
0
0

1,671
0
0

Total at 31 March 2011

433

1,109

129

1,671
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12. Property, plant and equipment (cont.)
The Trust did not receive any donated assets during the year.
The Trust does not hold any assets at revalued amounts nor have there been any write-downs during the year.
Property Plant & Equipment assets are depreciated over their useful economic lives. The Trust applies the following
standard lives to these classes of assets:

Total Non-NHS trade invoices paid in the year
Total Non NHS trade invoices paid within target
Percentage of Non-NHS trade invoices paid within target

Min Life
Years

Max Life
Years

5
5
5

15
5
10

The following classes of assets include fully depreciated assets still in use.
The gross carrying amount of these is as follows:
2010/11
£000s

124

Plant and machinery
Information technology
Fixtures and fittings

418
0
295

Total

713
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13. Intangible assets
Computer
software purchased

2010/11
Total

£000s

Computer
software internally
generated
£000s

Gross cost at 1 April 2010
Additions purchased
Additions internally generated
Additions donated
Additions government granted
Reclassifications
Reclassified as held for sale
Disposals other than by sale
Revaluation/indexation
Impairments
Reversals of impairments

53
306
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

53
306
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Gross cost at 31 March 2011

359

0

359

Amortisation at 1 April 2010
Reclassifications
Reclassifications as held for sale
Disposals other than by sale
Revaluation
Impairments
Reversal of impairments
Charged during the year

32
0
0
0
0
0
0
12

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

32
0
0
0
0
0
0
12

Amortisation at 31 March 2011

44

0

44

Net book value
Purchased
Donated
Government granted

315
0
0

0
0
0

315
0
0

Total at 31 March 2011

315

0

315

£000s

13.1 Capital commitments
Contracted capital commitments at 31 March not otherwise included in these financial statements:
2010/11
£000s
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets

809
174

Total

983
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14. Inventories

14.1 Inventories

31 March 2011
£000s

Drugs
Work in progress
Consumables
Energy
Other

0
0
0
0
105

Total

105

14.2 Inventories recognised in expenses

31 March 2011
£000s

Inventories recognised as an expense in the period
Write-down of inventories (including losses)
Reversal of write-downs that reduced the expense

0
(2,745)
0

The assets and liabilities transferred from the PCT included the stock of wheelchairs. However, as they do not meet
the criteria for stock within IAS 2 Inventories, they were written down in-year. The remaining stock items are held
in the Wheelchair Service for repairs and modifications.

15. Trade and other receivables

15.1 Trade and other receivables
Current
£000s

31 March 2011
Non-current
£000s

NHS receivables-revenue
NHS receivables-capital
Non-NHS receivables-revenue
Non-NHS receivables-capital
Provision for the impairment of receivables
Prepayments and accrued income
Finance lease receivables
Operating lease receivables
VAT
Other receivables

15,725
0
741
0
(198)
248
0
0
122
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Total

16,638

0

The great majority of trade is with Primary Care Trusts, as commissioners for NHS patient care services. As Primary
Care Trusts are funded by Government to buy NHS patient care services, no credit scoring of them is considered
necessary.
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15.2 Receivables past their due date but not impaired

31 March 2011
£000s

By up to three months
By three to six months
By more than six months

783
746
1,232

Total

2, 761

15.3 Provision for impairment of receivables

31 March 2011
£000s

Balance at 1 April
Amount written off during the year
Amount recovered during the year
(Increase)/decrease in receivables impaired

(2)
2
0
(198)

Balance at 31 March

(198)

16. Cash and cash equivalents

31 March 2011
£000

Balance at 1 April
Net change in year

1
3,403

Balance at 31 March

3,404

Made up of
Cash with Government banking services
Commercial banks and cash in hand
Current investments

3,391
13
0

Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of financial position
Bank overdraft - Government banking services
Bank overdraft - Commercial banks

3,404
0
0

Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of cash flows

3,404
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17. Trade and other payables
Current
£000s
Interest payable
NHS payables-revenue
NHS payables-capital
Non NHS trade payables - revenue
Non NHS trade payables - capital
Accruals and deferred income
Social security costs
VAT
Tax
Other

0
13,521
121
353
862
2,114
0
3
2
0

Total

16,976

0

Current
£000s

31 March 2011
Non-current
£000s

Pensions relating to former directors
Pensions relating to other staff
Legal claims
Restructurings
Redundancy
Other (specify)

0
0
27
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0

Total

27

0

18. Provisions
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31 March 2011
Non-current
£000s
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Pensions
relating to
former
directors
£000s

Pensions
relating to
other staff

Legal claims

Restructurings

Total

£000s

£000s

£000s

£000s

At 1 April 2010
Arising during the year
Used during the year
Reversed unused
Unwinding of discount

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0

0
27
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0

At 31 March 2011

0

0

27

0

27

Expected timing of cash flows
Within one year
0
Between one and five years
0
After five years
0

0
0
0

27
0
0

0
0
0

27
0
0
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19. Financial instruments

19.1 Financial assets
At fair
value through
profit and loss
£000s

Loans and
receivables

Available
for sale

Total

£000s

£000s

£000s

Embedded derivatives
Receivables
Cash at bank and in hand
Other financial assets

0
0
0
0

0
16,638
3,404
0

0
0
0
0

0
16,638
3,404
0

Total at 31 March 2011

0

20,042

0

20,042

At fair
value through
profit and loss
£000s

Other

Total

£000s

£000s

Embedded derivatives
Payables
PFI and finance lease obligations
Other borrowings
Other financial liabilities

0
0
0
0
0

0
16,976
0
0
0

0
16,976
0
0
0

Total at 31 March 2011

0

16,976

16,976

19.2 Financial liabilities

19.2 Financial liabilities
Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during the
period in creating or changing the risks a body faces in undertaking its activities. Because of the continuing service
provider relationship that the Trust has with Primary Care Trusts and the way those Primary Care Trusts are financed,
the Trust is not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced by business entities. Also financial instruments play a
much more limited role in creating or changing risk than would be typical of listed companies, to which the financial
reporting standards mainly apply. The Trust has limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and financial assets
and liabilities are generated by day-to-day operational activities rather than being held to change the risks facing
the Trust in undertaking its activities.
The Trust’s treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters
defined formally within the Trust’s standing financial instructions and policies agreed by the board of directors.
Trust treasury activity is subject to review by the Trust’s internal auditors.
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19.2 Financial liabilities (cont.)
Currency risk
The Trust is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of transactions, assets and liabilities being in
the UK and sterling based. The Trust has no overseas operations. The Trust therefore has low exposure to currency
rate fluctuations.
Interest rate risk
The Trust borrows from government for capital expenditure, subject to affordability as confirmed by the strategic
health authority. The borrowings are for one to 25 years, in line with the life of the associated assets, and interest
is charged at the National Loans Fund rate, fixed for the life of the loan. The Trust therefore has low exposure to
interest rate fluctuations.
Credit risk
Because the majority of the Trust’s income comes from contracts with other public sector bodies, the Trust has low
exposure to credit risk. The maximum exposures as at 31 March 2011 are in receivables from customers, as
disclosed in the trade and other receivables note.
Liquidity risk
The Trust’s operating costs are incurred under contracts with Primary Care Trusts, which are financed from resources
voted annually by Parliament. The Trust funds its capital expenditure from funds obtained within its prudential
borrowing limit. The Trust is not, therefore, exposed to significant liquidity risks.

20. Events after the reporting period
As part of the Department of Health's "Transforming Community Services" agenda, land and buildings currently
owned by NHS Hertfordshire will transfer to the Trust during 2011/12. The exact number and value of buildings is
yet to be determined, but is subject to negotiation between the two organisations. It is expected that the Trust
will then own or lease a significant number of properties, where it is either the sole or majority occupant of the
building. Further guidance is awaited from the Department of Health before these transactions are completed,
however, the deadline for completion of this transfer is 1 September 2011. It is expected to be in the region of
£60m and will be funded through Public Dividend Capital issued to the Trust.

21. Financial performance targets
The figures given for periods prior to 2009/10 are on a UK GAAP basis as that is the basis on which the targets
were set for those years.
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21. Financial performance targets
The figures given for periods prior to 2009/10 are on a UK GAAP basis as that is the basis on which the targets were
set for those years.

21.1 Breakeven performance
2005/06
£000s

2006/07
£000s

2007/08
£000s

2008/09
£000s

2009/10
£000s

2010/11
£000s

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

131,588
184

Turnover
Retained surplus/(deficit) for the year
Adjustment for:
Timing/non-cash impacting distortions:
Use of pre - 1.4.97 surpluses
[FDL(97)24 Agreements]
2006/07 PPA (relating to 1997/98 to 2005/06)
2007/08 PPA (relating to 1997/98 to 2006/07)
2008/09 PPA (relating to 1997/98 to 2007/08)
Adjustments for Impairments
Consolidated Budgetary Guidance Adjustment for Dual Accounting under IFRIC12*
Other agreed adjustments

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

Break-even in-year position

0

0

0

0

0

184

Break-even cumulative position

0

0

0

0

0

184

* Due to the introduction of International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) accounting in 2009/10, NHS Trust’s
financial performance measurement needs to be aligned with the guidance issued by HM Treasury measuring
Departmental expenditure. Therefore, the incremental revenue expenditure resulting from the application of IFRS to
IFRIC 12 schemes (which would include PFI schemes), which has no cash impact and is not chargeable for overall
budgeting purposes, is excluded when measuring Breakeven performance.

Materiality test
(I.e. is it equal to or less than 0.5%):
Break-even in-year position as
a percentageof turnover
Break-even cumulative position as
a percentage of turnover

2005/06
%

2006/07
%

2007/08
%

2008/09
%

2009/10
%

2010/11
%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0.14%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0.14%

The amounts in the above tables in respect of financial years 2005/06 to 2008/09 inclusive have not been restated
to IFRS and remain on a UK GAAP basis.
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21.2 Capital cost absorption rate
From 2009/10 the dividend payable on public dividend capital is based on the actual average relevant net assets
and therefore the actual capital cost absorption rate is automatically 3.5%.

21.3 External financing
The Trust is given an external financing limit which it is permitted to undershoot.

£000s
External financing limit
Cash flow financing
Finance leases taken out in the year
Other capital receipts
External financing requirement
Undershoot/(overshoot)

31 March 2011
£000s
1,500

(3,403)
0
0
(3,403)
4,903

21.4 Capital resource limit
The Trust is given a capital resource limit which it is not permitted to exceed.
2010/11
£000
Gross capital expenditure
Less: book value of assets disposed of
Plus: loss on disposal of donated assets
Less: capital grant
Less: donations towards the acquisition of non-current assets

1,114
0
0
0
0

Charge against the capital resource limit
Capital resource limit

1,114
1,500

(Over)/underspend against the capital resource limit
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22. Related party transactions
During the year none of the Department of Health Ministers, Trust Board members or members of the key
management staff, or parties related to any of them, has undertaken any material transactions with Hertfordshire
Community NHS Trust.
The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the year Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust has
had a significant number of material transactions with the Department, and with other entities for which the
Department is regarded as the parent Department. These entities are:

NHS Hertfordshire
South East Essex PCT
East & North Hertfordshire NHS Trust
West Hertfordshire Hospitals NHS Trust
NHS Business Services Authority

Payable
£000s

Receivable
£000s

Revenue
£000s

Expenditure
£000s

12,300
0
335
845
84

13,670
408
34
80
0

113,952
1,860
4,181
860
0

7,318
0
1,039
1,582
17,177

In addition, the Trust has had a number of material transactions with other Government departments and other
central and local government bodies. These are:

HM Revenue & Customs
Hertfordshire County Council

Payable
£000s

Receivable
£000s

Revenue
£000s

Expenditure
£000s

5
0

122
437

965
2,652

16,476
60
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23. Third party assets
The Trust held £300 cash and cash equivalents at 31 March 2011 which relates to monies held by the NHS Trust
on behalf of patients. This has been excluded from the cash and cash equivalents figure reported in the accounts.
24. Intra-Government and other balances
Current
receivables
£000s

Non-current
receivables
£000s

Current
payables
£000s

Non-current
payables
£000s

Balances with other central government bodies 15,227
Balances with local authorities
437
Balances with NHS trusts and foundation trusts
622
Balances with public corporations and trading funds 0

0
0
0
0

12,454
0
1,313
0

0
0
0
0

Intra government balances
Balances with bodies external to government

16,286
352

0
0

13,767
3,209

0
0

At 31 March 2011

16,638

0

16,976

0

25. Losses and special payments
There were 68 cases of losses and special payments totalling £200,705 accrued during 2010/11.
There were eight actual losses identified and 60 invoices estimated as losses, based on the provision for the
impairment of receivables.
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